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SENATOR HENRY S. HAINES (THE CHAIRMAN): Ladies and 

gentlemen: We would like to get this public hearing started 

now in the interest of time. 

I would like to introduce myself so that you know why 

I am here. I am Henry Haines, one of the members of this Legis-

lative Study Commission, and I am Senator from Burlington County. 

The membership of this Legislative Study Commission on Riparian 

Rights comprises myself, Senator Richard Stout of Monmouth County, 

Assemblyman William Hiering of Ocean County, Assemblyman Elmer 

Matthews of Essex County, and citizens who have been appointed 

to this Commission as provided for in the resolution - Vincent A. 

Grasso on my right, Morton Greenberg on my left and Frank J. 

Sleeper. 

The call of this meeting was in a notice which I 

would like to read: 11A public hearing will be held on the 

authority of Joint Resolution Number 11, approved June 23, 1960: 

'A Joint Resolution creating a commission to study the law of 

this state pertaining to riparian lands and rights and to prepare 

legislation to modernize the same.' 11 

In order to carry out the purposes of this resolution, 

this public hearing was called today in order to give persons 

interested an opportunity to present themselves to be . heard on 

the subject or to submit papers for consideration of the 

Commiss ,ton's deliberations. 

We would like to confine this public hearing to matters 

pertinent to the subject, that is, pertinent from the standpoint 

of what constructively can be done to modernize the law and the 

procedure with respect to riparian lands. 
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We do hope that the occasion will not be used for 
I 

the purpose of bringing individual cases that people are having 

current problems with, if so, only to the extent that it will 

be helpful in our deliberation with respect to what ought to 

be done legislatively and administratively with this present 

subject. 

We have had letters and memoranda already submitted 

to us by various people. Some of them are with us here today 

and will want an opportunity to be heard. Those that do not 

care to be heard who have submitted material as time allows as 

the hearing goes on, their communications will be acknowledged 

and the substance of their communications made known to those 

here at the hearing. 

Now, we would like, .fr course, to have people who 

speak to be as brief and to the point as possible and we would 

like to give everybody an opportunity to be heard and we would 

ask that those who care to be heard as their names are called, 

take their position at this desk and use the microphone that is 

available at this desk here. Slips have been passed among you 

whereby you could register your .name and your affiliation and 

whether you would like to be heard. John Kent ls circulating 

around the room yet on this errand and those who have not registered 

with him, if they will raise their hands, he will come to you and 

have you make out one of these slips and bring it to the desk. 

We do have persons who have indicated their interest 

in speaking and I am going to call first from my list Freeholder 

Alfred Walden of Bergen County. 
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ALFRED S. WALDEN: Senator Haines 

and gentlemen of the panel: We appreciate very much being able 

to come down and lay before you our little problem which I 

must say has been quite a problem with us for some time. 

I have submitted this in writing to you, sir, but I will go 

over this briefly and read it if I may. 

My purpose in appearing before this Commission today 

is to seek your aid and to r equest that in your deliberations of 

trying t o r esolve the problems of the State's Riparian Laws, 

that you give serious consideration to the unsuccessful endeavors 

of the County of Bergen and of the Bergen County Park Commission 

in trying to acquire from the State for public use the Riparian 

Rights in the Overpeck Creek Area of our county. 

We have acquired for public parks and recreational 

purposes approximately 1,082 acres of abutting marginal meadow lands 

along the easterly and westerly shores of the Overpeck Creek. :' ·We 

have submitted a map. Perhaps the chairman would l i ke to have 

that in front of you. 

SENATOR HAINES : The members of the Commission do 

have your map. 

MR. WALDEN : I have another one here if it would be of 

any aid. 

Over the past years we have expended a considerable 

sum for land acquisit i on, surveys, park plans, engineering borings, 

and cwe have ins talled t i de gates. Howeve r, we have been unable 

to make any substantial improvements due in great part to our 

inability to acquire the necessary riparian grant. The State is 
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taking about 190 acres of these lands for Route 95 and the 

Bergen-Passaic Expressway. 

We started negotiations to acquire the riparian 

rights with the State in 1949 and a t a mee ti ng on May 5, 1950 

the Division of Planning and Development voted to convey the 

riparian rights in this a r ea a t $1.00 a front foot, and so notified 

our county. We were subsequently advised that the cost of the land 

would be $40,000, and in March 1953 we were again advised that 

an accurate measurement shows a total of 45,311.19 front feet 

at $1.00 a foot for a total of $45,311.19. Our Board of Freeholders 

and the Bergen County Park Commission approved the payment. 

On October 7, 1952 a check was drawn for $40,000 and 

on May 8, 1953 a second check was drawn for an additional amount 

of $5,311.19 for payment of these riparian rights. Both checks 

were given to Milton T. Lasher, County Counsel 9 who held them 

until March 9, 1954, when he returned the checks to the County 

Treasurer. 

Evidently, legal techni c ali t ies 9 wi th which I am not 

familiar, have held up the drawing and de l i very of the grant 

instrument. 

After wa i ting about five yea r s 9 t he grant was further 

delayed by a letter of the Sta t e Highway Depa r tment to the 

Department of Conservation and Economi c Development requesting 

that the grant be withheld unt i l suc h ti me as the alignment for 

Routes 95 and 80 was sufficiently defined. The a f oresaid request 

was only withdrawn on June 22 , 1960. 

Upon learn i ng that the Highway Department had wi thdrawn 
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the aforesaid request, we again renewed our negotiations for the 

granting of the riparian rights, but for a slightly reduced area. 

In reply we received a letter dated July 27, 1961 from the Navigation 

Bureau advising that the Council of the Division of Resource 

Development at its meeting on July 12, this year, voted to grant 

the riparian rights at $5.00 a front foot or grant us a five-year 

revocable lease in accordance with N.J.S.A. 12:3-36. 

After voting in 1950 to convey the riparian rights at 

$lo00 a front foot 1 the State now, after a lapse of about eleven 

years, offers to convey the grant at an increased cost of 400 

per cent, thereby repudiating their original agreement, which 

we understand has never been rescinded from the records. 

It does not appear to be for the public's best interest 

for the State and a county to be in controversy over the owner-

ship and use of public lands, that as they now stand do not serve 

any useful purpose. The early grant to the County of Bergen of 

the riparian rights for the originally agreed price of $1.00 a 

front foot or a nominal consideration will enable us to proceed 

with the preparation of plans for the improvement of the area 

into parks and recreational facilities for public use. 

Any excessive sum, over the agreed price or a nominal 

consideratdon paid to the State for the riparian rights will 

take away from the county and our Park Commission money that 

we can use for this development. I would like to speak aside 

from this here. We are held down by statute to the amounts of 

money that our Park Commission gets and our debt limit and this 

just makes it this much more difficult for us to operate. 

In closing, I sincerely ask that this Commission in 
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th~ir studies, recommend that the original agreement be honored 

or, if it is believed that present legislation prohibits this, 

then consider r~ecommending to the legislature, a change of the 

law, that will enable the State to grant ripari an rights for 

public use to all municipal bodies and county governmental agencies 

of the State of New Jersey at a nominal consideration. 

I have attached copies of our Park resolution, all of 
I which I believe you haveo 

Gentlemen, we appreciate very much the opportunity to 

bring our problem to you. Thank you very muc h. 

SENATOR HAINES: Freeholder Waldon, your principal 

concern in behalf of Bergen County and your Planning Commission 

is that when you are trying to get something for public use that 

a lot of this procedure has been stand ing in your way and you 

would like to have it expedited. 

JVIR. WALDBN: That's c_orrect, sir. _, 

SENATOR HAINES : We have a copy of the resolution of 

the Bergen County Park Commission and County of Be r gen . which, 

aside from the "whereas's" which you have covered, reques~ the 

Commission that the laws be amended so that the sale of riparian 

rights may be made by the State to the County of Bergen for public 

park and recreational purposes as originally voted at the r ate 

of $1.00 per _front foot. 

Do the members of the Commission have any questions 

to ask Freeholder Walden? 

We recognize that there are representat ives of 

municipalities and counties here today that a re concerned about 

this relationship with respect to public use and it was suggested 
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by Mr. Grasso that we have Morton Greenberg tell us a little 

more the background and difficulties on this. I don't know 

whether you would at this point, Mort, take the position that 

the department and we are cognizant of the problem and it is one 

of the things that we would hope to be able to do something about 

as a result of these deliberations. Do you want to add more than 

that? 

MR. GREENBERG: Well, I can say this, Mr. Walden, the 

problem I think the department had in this case, although I am 

not particularly familiar with it - but the increase in the 

pri c e would unquestionably be on the advice of the office of the 

Attorney General and probably on the basis of an opinion written 

by me. 

The State had developed the practice of making grants 

to counties and municipalities at a price which was less than 

what would be deemed the true and fair value. Of course, you 

know in fixing the price of real estate there is always an 

argument on how much i t is worth. But in any event the practice 

had developed of consciously lowering the pri ce f r om what the 

true considerati on was deemed to be by the Counc ~ l of the Division 

of Plann i ng and Development. And this letter which was sent to 

you in 1961 raising the price from $1.00 to $5.00 a foot was 

unquestionab ly on the basis of this advice. 

Now 1 the pr oblem is that the statute doesn't set what 

the State must charge as considerations, but the courts have 

held in seve r al decisions that if the State charges less than 

the full va l ue f or a considerat i on and the sta t ute would authorize 

that, the s t atute would in tur n be unconstitutional, the reason 
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being that the riparian lands have been dedicated and the 

proceeds from the sale thereof have beeh dedicated to the 

support of the free public schools - this is generally called 

the School Fund - and if the lands are sold for less than t he 

true value, apparently there is not much question but this is 

unconstitutional. 

I think what you are talking about here is more than 

a statute because if this Commission recommended a statute, pursuant 

to your letter, the statute in all l ikelihood would be declared 

unconstitutional. So what you really need is a constitutional 

amendment to bring about what you want. 

MR. WALDEN: I would say, not being a lawyer myself, 

that I would have to leave this in the hands of an attorney. I 

know that we are seeking relief. We hope that you gentlemen can 

be of help to us and it is not a selfish motive at all. We are 

all working for the people in this instance. We are out working 

hard for the green acre program, all of which th is , of course, 

does tie into. 

SENATOR HAINES : I think we are aware of the problem 

and thank you a lot. 

MRo WALDEN: Thank you very mucho 

SENATOR HAINES~ Our next person to be called on is 

Kenneth Creveling of the Division of Resource Development. 

Are you talking for Mr. Swisher or in your own behalf 

this time7 

KENNETH H. CREVELING: Senator, 

I will read Mr. Swisher's statement, which is a statement on 

behalf of the Resource Development Council. 
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SENATOR HAINES: Then you wanted to add something in 

your own capacity, did you not? 

MR. CREVELING: No. I would be happy to answer any 

questions which may occur. 

SENATOR HAINES: We are hopeful you will be able to 

stay for the entire hearing so you will be available. 

MR. CREVELING: I hope to, yes, sir. 

My name is Kenneth H. Creveling, Director of the 

Division of Resource Development in the Department of Conservation 

and Economic Development of the State of New Jersey. I am appearing 

here to read a statement of Mr. o. V. Swisher, who is Chairman 

of the Resource Development Council in the Department. 

11 My11name is o. V. Swisher, Chairman of the Resource 

Development Council, speaking in behalf of the Council, whose 

responsibility it has been to dispose of or act as administrative 

agency for the State's riparian lands for the benefit of the fund 

for the support of free public schools. 

"It is not our purpose today to offer concrete sug-

gestions for the streamlining of the many and varied statutes 

affecting riparian lands in New Jersey, but rather to offer 

suggestions as to the areas which should be given the broadest 

search and which have caused the most confusion over the year_s. 

These areas would include clarification of the erosion and 

accretion problem as it pertains to riparian classification. 

In general, eroded land reverts to the State, while accreted 

land, where the accretion is natural, accrues to the benefit of 

the upland owner; the sections dealing with abandonment of pre-

emptive rights; the problem of lack of knowledge of what 
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constitutes riparian lands, which has become most evident recently 

where lands are being sold for taxes or have been sold for taxes 

where there is not clear title because of the existence of 

streams and land flowed by tidewater; and, finally, the general 

policy of governmental acquisition for recreation and other 

public purposes. 

"A part of the statutory requirements on riparian 

lands concerns the abandonment of preemptive rights under certain 

conditions. The application of this section of the law has been 

the subject of much discussion, and its acceptance has been delayed 

because of the uncertainties involved. This, of course, leads 

into the general question of municipal and county requirements 

for park and other public use development wherein the granting 

of a restricted deed ~apparently requires the same monetary return 

as an unrestricted deed. The entire question of public benefit 

from riparian lands should be tho r oughly explor ed. 

"We would like to point out that in many cases 

necessary changes in the r ipar ian laws can be made by legislation, 

whereas many others would necess i ta t e const i tutional amendments. 

It is felt by the Resource Deve l opment Counci l that while many 

of the important sections requ i r i ng constitutional amendment 

should be studied as rapidly as poss i b le , cons i derable attention 

should be given to amendatory legis l ation which would not require 

constitutional amendment. 
I "Other areas which need consi de rable study and revision, 

but on which we are not going into detail~ include the application 

of the Meadow Bank Act and the application and consideration 
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in regard to Freeholder Licenses. 

"The Resource Development Council is honored to 

offer any assistance it may be able to provide to the Riparian 

Study Commission in its deliberations on this most important 

business.'' 

Thank you, Senator. 

SENATOR HAINES: Are there questions by members of 

the Commission of Mr. Creveling, 

MR. CREVELING: I might say I have copies of this 

statement available. 

MR. A.H. UNDERHILL: Senator, I have a statement 

from the Fish and Game Council whenever you are ready for it. 

SENATOR HAINES: Yes. We'll put you on the list 

here. Right now we are to hear from Alvin E. Gershen, Chairman 

of the Meadowlands Regional Development Agency. 

ALVIN E. GERSHEN! Mr. Chairman, my 

name is Alvin E. Gershen. I am Chairman of the Meadowlands 

Regional Development Agency. 

I am accompanied here this morning by Mr. Charles 

c. Nathanson, our Executive Director, and Bill Blohm, our counsel. 

We have distributed to you copies of our statement. 

For the sake of brevity, I would like to skip the first three 

or four pages and get into the specific nine points which we 

make. 

I would like to say at this point for the sake of the 

record that we are an inter-municipal agency,consisting of ten 

municipalities in Bergen and Hudson Counties, and we are solely 

interested in those meadows which are called the Hackensack 
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Meadows. All our remarks are directed to those meadowlands. 

We must take this view because of the nature of our agency 

and the purpose for which we were formed. We are a body politic and 

corporate and are formed under t he 1949 s t a t utes, the Redevelop-

ment Agencies Law. 

We make nine suggestions. We have had meetings with 

the Department of Conservation and Economic Development , amae the 

Attorney General's Office. We were partly responsible for the 

causing of the report made by the Bureau of Navigation some 

months ago on the ownership question in the Hackensack Meadows. 

Based upon that report, based upon an earlier report the Department 

of Conservation and Economic Development did on riparian rights 

in 1959, we offer respectfully the following nine suggestions: 

(1) An Engineering Survey. 

The most important issue concern i ng riparian rights 

in the Hackensack Meadows is not one of law, but one of fact. 

This is the question of what lands a r e now or we r e forme r ly inundated 

at mean high tide and, therefo r e, a r e owned by t he State. This 

is not clear at all. It is in the bes t i nte r est of all concerned 

that this determination be made at t he earli est possible date. 

Those lands now inundated at mean high tide can be determined by 

engineering technology. We there f or e sugge st that an engineering 
I survey be undertaken immediately to determine the extent of 

tidelands in the Hackensack Basin by establishing true elevations 

in the Hackensack Meadowlands. The land has become quite valuable 

and the reclamation of this land has become quite important and 

we feel that this determination should be made forthwith. 
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(2) A Cut-off Date. 

The problem of determining what lands were formerly 

flooded by tide water is much more difficult. Former tidelands 

can only be determined by available atlas sheets, maps, surveys, 

and aerial photos, or by eye witness statements. Parcel by parcel 

determinations in this category, we feel are inequitable and 

inadequate because of the lack of sufficient evidence as to 

which changes were caused by man-made projects, including those 

changes made under the provisions of the Meadow Bank Act and the 

Wharf Acts, and which changes were natural. The State's title 

to lands now or formerly flooded by the tide is an attribute of 

its sovereignty, and the benefits thereof have since 1871 been 

appropftiated by law to the support of the free public schools. 

But just as the school fund serves a public purpose, so too, we 

maintain, the orderly development of the Hackensack Meadowlands 

contributes to the general welfare. Therefore, since the State 

claims all lands which are now or were formerly flooded at mean 

high tide, and defining such lands entails great difficulty, we 

proposed that a cut-off date for determining former tidelands be 

established by legislative action. And, incidentally, if this 

might meari more than legislative action,we think this should be 

explored. Because the proceeds from the sale of tidelands have 

been appropriated by statute to the school fund since 1871, 

we propose that the cut-off date be the year 1870, one year prior 

to the enactment of this statute. Hence, the title of the State 

in lands formerly inundated at mean high tide would ecompass only 

those lands so inundated on and after the year 1870. 
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(3) Meadowlands Title Declaration. 

To settle the question of land ownership in the 

Hackensack Meadowlands and to prevent the possibility of having 

several hundred court actions to determine title, we propose 

that the former and present tidelands be so declared by legis-

lative action after an exhaustive and all-inclusive search by an 

executive administrative agency into all parcels of land in the 

Hackensack Meadowlandso This administrative agency would survey 

all historical evidence, documents, engineering studies, and eye 

witness accounts, together with present true elevations, and 

would then report to the legislature the extent of lands now 

or since 1870 flowed by tidewatero Their report should include 

all documentations 9 and be submitted to the State legislature 

with dispatcho A copy of the report with all supporting 

evidence should be placed on file ~ln the State libraryo 

(4) A Cause of Actiol . 

We further respectful ly suggest that the Legislature 

create a cause of action so that the validity of t he Stateis 

title in any parcel of land in the Hackensack Meadows may be 

contested by any party also claiming t i tle. We also propose that 

a three-year statute of limitations be enacted running from the 

date that the Legislature declares the extent of State lands in 

the Hackensack Meadowlands, after which no action against the 

State's title in any parcel of land in the Hackensack Meadowlands 

may be commencedo 

(5) A Board of Arbitrationo 

We propose that an impartial board of arbitration be 
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created by legislative act, to which all disputes of land owner-

ship in the Hackensack Meadowlands may be voluntarily submitted. 

This board should also receive disputes between private persons 

asserting ownership under present riparian laws as well as 

disputes with the State or any of its departments or agencies. 

During the pendency of any arbitration, the statute of limitations 

referred to previously should be tolled, and the right of the 

interested parties to contest in the courts shall be reserved. 

Because of the urgency of clearing title, it should be required 

that all arbitration be commencedHwithin three years and that 

the Board be dissolved within five years. 

We are not anxious to have an arbitration board go on 

in this case forever. 

(6) Validation of Prior Sales. 

The problem of land ownership in the Hackensack Meadow-

lands has been compounded because of the sale of former tidelands 

by municipalities under the supposition that such lands accrued 

to municipal ownership. We believe that, where this is the 

case, the results occurred because of a mistake of fact - namely, 

as to which lands were former tidelands - and not because of a 

misunderstanding of the law. We believe that the parties involved 

in such transactions were acting in good faith. Benefits from 

these transactions have accrued to the owners, private owners, 

as well as to the municir~lities. There is little doubt that 

the municipalities would have received a prior grant from the 

State had they applied. We therefore propose that the State 

consider the granting of riparian title in such lands to all 
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municipalities or individuals involved in these transactions, 

and that the value of the riparian r ight be declared as of the 

date the municipality sold the land, and further that the fair 

price of such riparian land be set by t he Sta t e 9 s Resource Develop-

ment Council. 

(7) Public Acquis i t i on of State Tidelands. 

The orderly development of the Hackensack Meadowlands 

tpettflcally by the Meadowlands Regional Development Agency to 

their fullest potential and best use wou l d become much more 

feasible if all undeveloped areas of the meadowlands necessary 

for reclamation, ,: a :'.. governmental func tion, and supporting works 

were in public ownership. We therefore propose that the law of 

preemptive rights be changed in favor of public acquisition of 

those tidelands in the Hackensack Meadowlands wherever the above 

purpose will be served. Th i s would requi r e that notice of intent 

to acquire a parcel of tidel ands be given t he mun i cipality, 

and that the mun i cipal i ty may elect to pur chase wi th i n a certa i n 

period of time. We propose tha t thi s pe riod be one year f r om 

the time notice is formal l y give n to t he mun ic ipa l ity by the 

Bureau of Naviga t ion of the Department of Conse rvat i on and 

Economic Development. We fu r the r pr opose that the acquisit i on 

of Meadowlands by the mun ic ipa li t y or by our agency, which is 

a governmental agency, be deemed a pub lic purpose and that such 

acquisition shall be at a compensati on which will preserve both 

the interest of the munic i pal i t ie s and the agency in reclaiming 

the meadows and that of the Statevs schoo l l tund. 

(8) Other Title Consi de r a tions . 

We propose that thi s Commi ss i on, and r espectfully suggest , 
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should also give consideration to the clearing of title to 

filled tidelands where the party now in possession has not 

obtained a riparian grant and does not own the true upland with 

its preemptive right. At present, the State is prohibited by 

statute from issuing a grant where in many instances this pro-

cedure would be the most fair and practical solution. The orderly 

development of the Hackensack Meadowlands requires that title in 

such cases should also be cleared. 

(9) Intermunicipal Cooperation Through a Regional Agency. 

We finally propose and respectfully suggest that the 

State Legislative Study Commission approach all riparian laws 

that affect or will affect reclamation and development in the 

Hackensack Meadowlands with the view that reclamation of the 

entire 15,000 acres will be achieved in our lifetime by the 

municipalities cooperating on a regional basis, and that only a 

governmental agency which is regional in scope and authority can 

provide for those public works necessary for the successful 

reclamation and development of the Hackensack Meadowlands for 

the best interest of the State as a whole. The findings of this 

Commission and its subsequent recommendations should in our 

humble opinion reflect this principle. 

The Meadowlands Regional Development Agency will 

continue to conduct research on questions pertaining to riparian 

rights as they are presented in suggestions or proposals made by 

member municipalities,which l includes Kearny, Lyndhurst, Wanaque, 

North Arlington, North Bergen, Secaucus, Teterboro, Rutherford, 

East Rutherford 9 and Carlstadt at the moment, with some more to 
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come into the agency. As new solutions are suggested, we hope 

to communicate these to your Commission. We also offer all 

assistance that we may be able to provide to your Commission in 

the study of this most important s ub ject . 

Thank you very much for your kind courtesy in having 

us appear before you this morning. 

SENATOR HAINES: Are there questions of Mr. Gershen 

by members of the Commission] I 
We appr eciate very, very much this representation by 

you and the offer of you and othe r members of your agency to 

be helpful to us in these del i ber , ti ons. 

IVIR. GERSHEN : Thank you very much. 

SENATOR HAINES: Sidney Wil l is. 

S I D N E Y L. WILL IS : Mr. Chairman and 

members of the Commission: fvly name i s Sidney Willis. I am 

Planning Officer of Jersey Ci ty. I would l i ke to f il e with the 

Commission a statement by Mayor Thomas Gangemi. 

SENATOR HAINES : May wJ have c op i es for our benefit 

while you are speaking? (Copies handed Comm i ssion members.) 

MR. WILLIS: In the i nte r es t of br evity, if I may, 

Mr. Chairman, I would like to summariz e br iefly the Mayor's 

s ta temen t. 

Firstly, the Mayor expresses his concern with the 

immediate resolution of this matt1r, especially with regard 

to the extent of the State's r ipar i an c l a i m i n Jersey City and in 

the Hackensack Meadows area. 

The Mayor commends the wo r k of the Meadowlands Regional 

Development Agency and also commends t o you the suggestions made 



in Mr. Gershen's statement prior cto this. 

And, finally, the Mayor offers the services of the 

city's legal and engineering and planning staff in defining 

the extent of the State's riparian claim in Jersey City. 

Wil),that, sir, and our detailed statement concludes the remarks 

I have. 

SENATOR HAINES: Would you want to read the statement? 

MR. WILLIS: No, sir, I won't read the statement. 

SENATOR HAINES: All right. Then, thank you very much. 

(Mayor Thomas Gangemi's statement can be found in 
the back of the transcript on page 63) 

SENATOR HAINES: Is Ira CMoore, Jr. here? Mr. Moore, 

will you state your full name and the capacity in which you 

appear? 

I R A c. MOORE, J R •: My name is Ira C. 

Moore, Jr. I am an attorney. I represent the Hermetite Division 

of Universal Match Corporation. I got into this situation recently 

because of a very important transaction involving our client. 

My remarks relate to the title to marshlands in the 

State. While my client is affe~ted by i t, of course, my remarks 

relate to all the marshlands in the State of New Jersey. 

The title companles at the present time I understand 

- in fact, I know that some of them at least - will not guarantee 

title to marshlands without an exception with respect to the 

rights of the State of New Jersey. When I say "marshlands," I 

refer to marshlands which are now or pos si bly may at some time 

have been flowed by tide. The title of the State of New Jersey 

is based upon its sovereign rights. I have filed with the Commission 
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a statement, but rather than reading the statement, I will 

amplify it Just to some extent. 

Unquestionably owners of salt marsh in Colonial 

times and since have thought that t hey owned the land. The title 

has been questioned for this reason: When the King, King Charles 

the Second,granted the State of New Jersey to his brother 

James, Duke of _York, together with the government, he granted 

the whole state, including tide marsheso That title devolved 

finally - not finally, but got into the Board of Proprietors 

of the State of New Jersey and title people usually think that 

our titles go back to the Board of Proprietors of the State of 

New Jersey. 
l 

However, there were some very important grants made 
I 

prior to the grant to the Board of Proprietors. It was assumed 

and has been assumed for years tha t based upon those early grants, 

the owners of marshland owned the title, free of any rightsto 

the State of New Jersey. 

The questions arose originally fo r this r eason: It 

has been held by our courts that when t he Ki ng granted to James, 

Duke of York, title to the State of New Jersey, it was granted 

to him subject to the s.ame rights ta1.s. t only the rights that the 

King had as sKing of England, and those rights were subject to 

certain common rights that under the Magna Charta and the British 

Constitution the public in general had certain rights in waters, 

the sea and the arms of the sea, ~he rivers and the bays. And 

those rights, if you look at the old cases, you will find they 

are the rights of fishing. The f i rst case that I found in New 
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Jersey and the first case in the United States Supreme Court 

related to the oyster beds in Raritan Bay which were undoubtedly 

under water. Marshland is not water. If you look in the dictionary, 

marshland is land - it's swampy land it is true, but it's land. 

And the rights which the general public had as distinguished 

from individuals were rights which they held in common, which 

they could use in common, such as fishing and navigation. 

Now, in our decisions as they came along, they picked 

up the phrase that land which is flowed by tide - up to low tide -

belonged to the State of New Jersey - had title in that. They 

had title by virtue of their sovereignty as distinguished from 

their proprietary title. In other words, the King as sovereign 

had title, but as sovereign he couldn't give away that title. 

It took only Parliament to do that. So the State of New Jersey 

succeeding the King as sovereign had title to these tidelands 

for the protection of the people as a whole. It related only 

to lands which could not be held in severalty in private owner-
I 

ship, but for those lands which the public as a whole had a 

right to enjoy. But because of phraseology in a recent decision, 

the Sis se lman Case, which has not I under stand been recorded, but 

application for certiorari has been made to the Supreme Court -

because of language used in those cases to the effect that the 

title of the State covers lands where the tide ebbs and flows, 

the question has been raised as to the ownership of all the marsh-

land in the State of New Jersey where the tide now or previously 

ebbed and flowed. 

Some years ago when the Fidelity Union Title Company 
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was in business our office had occasion for a client to acquire 

a large tract of salt meadow. The title company searched the 

title; Fidelity Union Title Company searched the title. We found 

that from the earliest times ther e we r e deeds of record covering 

parcels of that salt marsh. I was told by Fred DeCamp who was 

a great expert on meadow titles that in the old days the farmej~ 

owned the upland and they owned a piece of salt meadow where they 

cut the hayo It was always conside r ed to be in private ownership 

and their records show it 9 not only there where we searched, but 

in other parts of the State. The records show that it had been 

considered in private ownership. 

What is the result? As a result of that individuals 

and corporations have acquired title to marshland - they have made 

expensive improvements on it. I happen from my practice to 

know that the Western Electric Plant, that huge plant in Kearny, 

is built on reclaimed l and. Whethe r or no t they have the ripari an 

rights, I don't knowo But i t was bui l t by t he Fo r d Motor 

Company. The land was r ec la i med by dre dg ing. 

There are vast indus tr ies and va st t ract s of land 

which are affected by th i s situat ion. 

My proposal i s this, t ha t the Le gis la tur e recognize 

the situation, that it recognize the fac t that the State of 
' 

New Jersey's rights are only sove r e i gn ri ghts and that as 

sovereign they have no rights or should have no rights - whether 

they have or not, they should have no ri ght s - i n l and which can 

be used in severalty by individual pro pri eto r s. There is no 

more reason why marshland should be owned by t he State of New 
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Jersey than the upland. There is no common interest in the 

State of New Jersey in marshland. 

I, therefore, propose that the legislature follow 

the example of Congress a short time ago - I think it was around 

1950, somewheres around there - when they granted to the states 

their sovereign rights in certain waters within the three-mile 

limi to 

I have taken the liberty, based upon that act, of 

drawing a couple of provisions which I think could be enacted 

into law, which would clear the titles to all marshland in 

the State of New Jersey so that business people would know 

where they stand, private individuals would know where they stand, 

so they can sell their property, so they can mortgage their 

property, so that they know that they have good title, and so 

that the title companies would know where they stand. 

If I may, shall I just read these two provisions? 

They are very short. 

SENATOR HAINES: Go ahead .. 

MR. MOORE: ( 0 It is determined and declared (1) that 

the public interest does not require tra.t marshland, now or 

formerly flowed by tide waters, and filled in, made or reclaimed 

lands which were formerly such marshland, be held by the 

sovereign authority for the common and public use of the State 

and (2) that it is in the public interest that titles to such 

lands be recognized to be proprietary titles free from any right, 

title, interest or claim of the State of New Jersey based upon its 

sovereignty. 
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2. The State of New Jersey disclaims, vacates and 

relinquishes all right, title and interest based upon its 

sovereignty, in and to all marshland in this state, now or 

formerly :'flowed by tide waters, all fil l ed in , made or reclaimed 

lands which were formerly such marshland. 

If I may, I'll leave a few copies of this. 

SENATOR HAINES: I wish you would. Are there 

questions of Mr. Moore by members of the Commission? 

. MR. GRASSO: Mr. Moore, you say marshlands; don't 

we have a factual problem with marshlands, the degree to which 

it is marshland as we have with n:eadowlands7 Don't we have a 

factual engineering problem as to what is to be determined to 

be marshland as of what period of time? 

MR. MOORE : In my opinion, no. In my opinion marshland 

is land. If you look at the dic t i onary, it is soggy land; it's 

swamp. There is no reason why the State of New Jersey should 

claim title to swamp or soggy mar shland. The on ly reason why 

the State of New Jersey has any sover e i gn t it le i n land which 

is flowed by the tide is for the common benefit of all. For 

example, along the ocean y ou have to e stab li sh a line where does 

the ocean end. Well, i t ends a t h i gh wa t er mark. You can fish 

in the ocean anywheres in there. And y ou come up the streams -

where does i t end? We ll, i f i t i s navi gab l e, of cour se~ some 

states have a criterion of nav igabi li ty as t o the public's rights. 

But there is no reason why the State o f New Jersey should have 

any sovereign rights. In my opini on t hey have no sovereign rights 

in marshland as such, a l l ma r shland. 

MR. GREENBERG : Mr . Moore, you r efe r , of course, to 
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the Submerged Lands Act of 1953 or ,54. 
MR. r-lDORE: Yes, sir. 

fll!R. GREENBERG: When the Federal government quit claim to 

its rights, which had been defined by the Supreme Court, I believe, 

previously in United States versus California, it had someone 

to give the lands to, the state. I think the Submerged Lands 
.,, 

Act provided that whatever title the United Statesi:a,.ad was 'M. ·. 
extinguished in favor of the state in each instance. 

MR. MOORE: That's right. 

fll!R. GREENBERG~ But now what would the state do, 

assuming it has good title to these lands, which it does up to 

high water line unless there has been a grant naturally -- assuming 

that the state has good title to it and assuming as in many 

instances that there is no legitimate claim of private ownership 

- most of this land is completely vacant - I realize in North 

Jersey there has been a lot of fill - but most of it is completely 

vacant - no taxes paid on - and I think you would probably find 

that there is no chain of title from the Board of Proprietors -

who would own the land if the state gave it up? 

fll!R. r-lDORE: In the first place, I dispute that the 

state owns it. 

flllRo GREENBERG: Well, assuming that they do. 

fll!R. MOORE: I say that there is a cloud on the title, 

that whatever right they have is by virtue of sovereignty and 

a cloud has been cast on the title by virtue of these decisions. 

So my suggestion is that they disclaim their rights and vacate. 

Now you say, who would own them? Those properties 

have been taxed. I'll bet you'll find in every municipality they 
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are on the tax rolls. And the way we acquired title to some 

where we couldn't get a clear chain of title in the case I 

referred to, we acquired the tax title and we foreclosed it. 

So you can get the title into private ownership very readily. 

Municipalities, if they wanted to, could foreclose their tax titles . 

and acquire title. The title is there. The title was in the 

Board of Proprietors and if you can't find it out of the Board 

of Proprietors, it is still in the Board of Proprietors. In 

the case I referred to, I know I went to Ed Wyckoff who was 

then Vice President of the Fidelity Union Title Company and 

asked him whether . he would guarantee these titleso I cwas going 

to acquire some tax titles. "Well," he said, "the trouble is 

you don't have possession and unless you get back to the Board 

of Proprietors, I don't feel we can guarantee them." "Well II I , 
said, "suppose I Join the Board of Proprietors as a defendant?" 

He said, "I have never known of its being done, but I see no 

reason why you can't do ito 11 So I went down to Judge Lyon and 

told him what I was doing - he was the registrar .. --. We Joined him 

as a defendant and then we acquired a grant from them, from the 

Board of Proprietorso So you can get title. 

Mr. Moore? 

SENATOR HAINES: Are there any other questions of 

Thank you very much, Mr. Moore. 

MRo MJORE: Thank you very much for your courtesy. 

SENATOR HAINES: Max Schwartz. 
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MAX SCHWARTZ: My name is Max Schwartz 

and I am President of the New Jersey Title Insurance 

Association. 

I would like to commend both the representative of 

the Meadowlands Regional Agency and Mr. Moore on their 

presentationso Unfortunately, they stole most of my 

thundere 

SENATOR HAINES: You still have problems. 

MR. SCHWARTZ: Well, their problems are our 

problemso We don't have any personal interest in this but 

l would like to approach this from the point of view of 

general benefit to the publice 

I think in a case of this sort there must be a 

compromise some placee The State of New Jersey not only 

represents the beneficiaries of the School Fund but it 

also represents all the citizens at large and some 

equitable solution must be found to avoid the economic 

impact that would result from the present posture of 

affairs o 

Now I too want to recommend that .the Legislature 

authorize and direct the establishment of a new high water 

line, a current high water line as to all lands presently 

affected by tide waters. I think that's very important 

because in determining the State 9 s ownership we are 

governed by the current high water line and not some high 

water line that may have been established in 1871 or otherwise. 

The current high water line will determine the 
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title unless that high water line has been artifically 

created - I mean, if lands have been filled in or something 

of that nature, of course, you canvt acquire title by 

artificial accretion, but the upland owners would acquire 

that title if the accretion was natural and also they would 

lose if the erosion was a no rmal erosiono 

So I think that the Legislature should authorize 

and direct the establishment of a new and current lineo 

Now in the spirit of compromise, perhaps, I 

think that the Legislature in directing that that line be 

fixed should direct that the line be not fixed beyond the 

point where property has been held under a record or color 

of title - that would mean either by a deed or by a dev,ise -

and has been assessed to a person for upward of 20 years, 

and where the State of New Jersey during that period has 

exercised no ,control by way of lease or grant or any other 

means of proprietary controlo So that if we have thes e 

meadowlands which perhaps were filled in a hundred years 

ago or 90 years ago, or a t a period that we have no express 

evidence - I mean 9 you might get testimony of some old 

person but certainly it is going to be not conclusive 

evidence as to whether these 1 ere or were not tide lands 

and artifically filled ino 

So where we have a situation where these lands 

have been apparently privately owned for a t least 20 yearso 

assessed, and the State has exercised no control, the 

statute should direct that the line be not fixed so as to 

include those lands. 
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Then, in accordance with the suggestion of the 

Meadowlands Agency representative, I too would like to 

give all persons who may be aggrieved by the high water line 

fixed by the State a certain number of years in which to 

bring an action to control the validity of the line 

established by the State and to establish their own title. 

Now I think, also in the spirit of compromise, one 

other thing has to be done. If an action is brought, in 

that nature, by an individual who is attacking the 

established line fixed by the Legislature or by the department 

under this new Act, I think the burden of proof for justifying 

that line must be upon the department or upon the State of 

New Jersey because if you put that burden upon the party 

who is bringing such a suit it's going to be impossible for 

any private individual to establish such evidence. I think 

that this is available to the State, they have all the old 

records, they have all the papers, and it should be their 

burden in the first instance to establish this line. Of 

course, if they do, it will be the other party's burden to 

go ahea::land establish his case. 

I think that the Legislature should fix a period 

within which this line must be established so that this 

can't run on in perpetuity - I mean, whether it's 3 years, 

5 years. I realize that the fixing of a current high 

water mark is not a simple thingo It may have to be done 

piecemeal. But the Legislature should, first, provide the 

funds for the doing of it; and, secondly, should provide a 

time limit within which it must be done6 
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Now another approach that might be taken is that 

the statute might fix the rights of the State in these 

tidelands to navigable waterso 

We have many situa ti ons where t he st r eams are not 

navigable, the streams have been dried out for many years, 

and the State is still claiming rights in the lands ~ claiming 

that the people must get riparian grantso 

1 think a s ta t ute estab l ish i ng that the State has 

no right in these lands un l es ~ the wa t ers which border them 

are navigable, or perhaps fix i ng that the State has no 

right beyond a certain number of feet from the normal bank 

of a Hd.vigable stream rather than take in al l lands which 

may come under a half inch of wa t er a t an extreme or unusual 

high tideo 

I think, too, that a point tha t might be added in 

the case of the meadowlands and the marsntands is that the 

land mus t be flowed by ebb and t ide if t he Sta t e has an 

interest in ito 

The State , I be lieve 9 is now t ak i ng t he posi t i on 
I 

that wher e l and s a r e not actua lly ebbed and fl owed but ·where 

the land is s pongy at h i gh wa t er the wate r oozes up out 

of the l and when you step on it= I t h i nk t hey a r e claiming 

that is ebbed and f l owed and t ha t is not an actual facto 

We have many situa ti ons, a s Mr o Gr asso knows, down at the 

shore where you can be three or f our b l oc ks f r om t he ocean 

and at c ert a in time s of t he yea r when the wa t er table i s 

up your land is spongy and ye t t ha t l and i s no t flowed or 
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ebbed by the tideo 

The Title Association, too, would like to offer its 

assistance if it can in any way help you gentlemen. As I 

say, I agree in the great bulk of suggestions set forth 

by the Meadowiands Regional Agency and I would only like 

them expanded to cover all matters and not just the 

Hackensack Meadows. 

Thank youo 

SENATOR HAINES~ Mr. Schwartz, we are going to find 

it of help in our deliberations to be in further contact 

with title company people and you are the one that we would 

contact representing the title company industry. Is that 

right? 

MRo SCHWARTZ : That's right. I say, we have no 

personal interest in it but we would like to see the matter 

clarifiedo 

SENATOR HAINES~ Yes. I was only asking - we are 

going to need the service and you are the person that we 

should contacto 

MR. SCHWARTZ: That's righte 

SENATOR HAINES: Are there any questions of Mre 

Schwart z? 

MRe GREENBERG~ I have a question, Mr. Schwartz. 

What would you or your Association think of ,a 

statute which provided that if a person could show that he 

and the pe rsonswho preceded him in his claim of title or 

chain of title had been is possession of land for a period 

perhaps of 20 years and there was a question as to whether 
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the State had title to those l and s, t hat he and his assigns, 

and so forth 9 could secure a grant from the State of the 

lands without regard to any pr eemptive right provided that 

they could s how posse s s i on 9 and pres umab ly t hey wou l d show 

this by the means of affidavit 9 e tc e? WouldnVt this be a 

much simp l er system of c lear i ng titl es, much cheaper, and 

they would actually have a gr ant s o t hat I would think it 

would be sur e r o 

J.VIR o SCHWARTZ : We ll, I wa s go i ng t o s uggest, and 

I didn 9 t say it because t he gentl eman f r om the Meadowlands 

Agency already sugges ted it, t ha t after the high wate r 

line is fixed the State of New Je r sey in a statute of the 

Legisla t ure would vest t he persons t o whom t he propert y had 

been assessed under a c ol or of t i tl e , I mean where al l the 

three points ex ist ed .-whe r e the Stat e has exerc ised no 

rights , whe r e i t had been as J ess ed t o a person , and whe r e 

they had a recor d c ol or of title for a t least 20 yea rs -

that the St a t e of New J ers ey vest t hem with t he ti t le beyond 

the line t ha t t hey had f ixed o 

Now, I t h i nk t ha t t ha t woul d t ake ca r e of tha t o 

Now I know t ha t you might th i nk t ha t such a 

statut e wou l d be unconstit ut i ona l but t he schoo ls have 

benefited by the moneys from t hes e sa l es only by reason of 

an ac t of the Legi sl a t ure and I don 8 t s ee any r eason why an 

act depriving them, t o an ex t ent, of t he s e f unds i s 

unconstitutiona l o 
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MRo GREENBERG: You expressly excluded, though, 

from this new high water line, lands that had been 

artifically filled. 

MRo SCHWARTZ: Yeso But now you may have -- you 

have a difficult problem there. Now, the · mere fact that you 

are going to fix a high water line which may not include 

these lands doesn 9 t necessarily give these people title. 

MRo GREENBERGg That 9 s righto 

MRo SCHWARTZ: They may have had their deeds 

starting 40, 50, or 60 some in most of these cases I 

wouldn't care if you wanted to make that 30 years because 

in most of these cases, such as Mro Moore's situation, there 

are records of titles for 60 years. Now, of course, you 

can't get adverse possession against the State of New Jersey. 

If the State of New Jersey has a right, there is no adverse 

possession against them and naturally a title company will 

not insure it. 

So we need a statute vesting the title in these 

people because, as I suggested to one of my colleagues 

when we were discussing this= at first they wanted just 

a disclaimer by the State and then the interest in the lands 

beyond this new line to be fixed - I said, nNo, that's not 

going to be sufficient because if our own title is bad 

because it was originally in the State of New Jersey, we 

require a statute vesting title in thiso" 

Now, I don 9 t know whether the State had that title 

or whether it didn 9 t have it but I think, for the purpose 
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of clarification, there must be an act vesting the title 

beyond the new line to be fixed so that there will be no 

question of titleo 

IVIRo GRASSO g I can see just a s much controversy 

over this high water line as there ls over preemptive rlghtso 

Most of the problems arise, ls it not so, except for those 

cases which get into t he courts, on a factual basis of 

what, in effect, ls the land which ls flowed by these tide 

waterso We always get back to the same questlono This ls 

a factual questlono 

IVIRo SCHWARTZ ~ There ls no question about the law, 

the law is clearo 

MRo GRASSO g There ls no ques ti on about it, the 

law is clearo Now, you title companles 9 I don°t blame :you, 

are very apprehensive as to the extent to which \he court 

will, under a factual situation 9 say this falls within ebb 

and flow of the tideo I think a great deal of apprehension 

arises unnecessarilyo I thin~ a lot of people t hink about 

it and they don°t do anythlngo I think if some procedure 

were set up whereby the agency which has Jurlsd ,lction over 

these riparian lands= if they were in some position after 

a factual investigation to make a determination that in 

our opinion these lands are not flowed by tide waters and, 

therefore, the State never had jurisdiction over them and, 

therefore, whatever upland title ownership you have then 

you just continueo But ther e ls a lot 6f apprehension over 

certain -situations which neve r even get before the 

34 
I 



Navigation Bureau and perhaps if you went to them they'd 

say , "In our Engineering Department we don't claim this is 

flowed by tide waterse 11 

MR o SCHWARTZ~ Well 1 of course 1 we always suggest 

that they get in touch wi t h the Department and see what 

claims the Department is makingo But many times the 

Depar tment isnVt certain itself and they a r e unwilling to 

take a stand one way or the othero 

MR o GRASSO~ Shouldnnt t here be some procedure, 

wouldnnt it be possible, where a hearing will determine 

this and if the person is aggrieved with the findings of 

t he body that they could appeal to the courts? But I 

t h ink in most ca s es it could be r eso lvedo As you say, 

they have been in possession for a l ong period of time 

and there is littl e or no evidence which they can support 

to show that it was flowed by ebb and flow of tide, then the 

Depa rtment would have to relinqui sh any rightso 

I agr ee with you, I thi nk the burden should be on the 

Department 0 Since it establishes its cl aim and ownership 

to the land 1 I think the burden of pr oof s hould be on the 

State to suppo rt its claim factually under the theory of 

law which we all understando 

MRo SCHWARTZ ~ Well, of course, Vince, there is 

no such procedure at the present time o We have sent people 

down to the Department and in many cases, and recently, 

I understand the Department has taken the attitude that they 
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are not going to do anything until perhaps they get the 

results of this hearing and some determination is made upon 

their rights, one way or the other~ But there is nobody 

willing to assume the responsibility of declaring that we 

have no interest in this lando And let's assume that they 

do say that they have no interest, there is no assurance 

that some successor in office may not say, "Well, he was 

wrongo We do have an interesto" And I don 2t think there 

would be an estoppel thereo You would have to have legis-

lation which would authorize the Department to do these 

things. 

MRo GRASSO : An administrative determination and 

finding which would be conclusiveQ 

MRo SCHWARTZ: That 2s righto Now, what we are 

suggesting is something very similar, by having the 

statute authorizing the Department to fix this line and 

then have the State vest or relinquish t heir t itle in 

anything beyond that line because you are then doing it in 

one fell swoop rather than have each individual come in and 

have the Depar t ment fix the high water line with respect to 

his propertyo 

MR o GRASSO : They do t hat now wi t h pierheads and 

bulkheads pretty mucho 

MRo SCHWARTZ i But 1nm t r ying to get a general 

solution rat her than a specif ic s oluti on as to each piece 

of propertyo I have no per sona l inte r est in any one piece 

of pr opertyo 
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MRo GRASSO g It wou l d be a monument a l t as ko 

MFL SCHWARTZ ~ I say it wou l d be a monument al task 

and I am not suggesting how many y ea r s be a llowed fo r t he 

fixing of t h is l ine or whe t her i t be done piecemeal, whet her 

t he most urgen t s itua t ion ls up in the Hackensac k Meadowsi 

whet her t hey sta rt t her e and go around and Just h it t he 

troub l e spots f lrs t 1 but I t hink that tha t ls t he ultima t e 

solut i on and I t h ink it s houl d be borne i n mlndo 

MRo GREENBERG g Mr o Schwa rtz 9 s uppose the Sta t e 

aut horized advers e possession aga inst t he s e t i de lands 9 = 

in f ac t 9 t he r e is a sta t ut e 9 a t l east t here was a y ear agoi 

t he last t i me ! 1ooked 9 that you cou l d get advers e pos session 

aga i nst t he St a t eo The s t atute r ead s very br oad ly but it 

has been cons trued not t o app ly t o r ipar i an l and s o But 
s uppos e t he Leg isl a ture d i d aut horize adver s e possession 

agains t t he State on riparian lands o 

MRo SCHWARTZg Well 9 suppose it d i d 9 t hen t hes e 

people wo u ld require a quiet title suit to estab lish the ir 

advers e pos se ss ion befor e we wou l d c ertainly insure it o 

And if you a ~e f amiliar with the Holfest er case i n New J e r s ey 1 

proof of title by advers e possession is almost an 

i mpossib illty o You have to prove t ha t you knew you were 

occupy ing the t h ing adverse ly o I f you t ook t i t le by a 

deed and t hought t hat you owned it 9 t hen your pos sess ion 

is no t advers eo But you must have known t hat you we r e a 

squa tter and adversely and openly and not oriously occ upied 

i t for at l east 20 years in order for you t o ge t t hat 

advers e possessiono lt 0s almos t a physical impossibility 
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to meet those requirements. 

MR. GREENBERG: That's under the 20 year statute --

MR. SCHWARTZ~ Yeso 

MR. GREENBERG: -- but suppose they took the 30 

or 60 year statute, Just being in possessiono 

MRo SCHWARTZ: Well, a 60 year statute is one thing, 

a 30 year statute, you haven't done away with the rights of 

infants, lunatics, - I mean 9 they crop up and we don 9 t rely 

on the 30 year statuteo 

MRo GREENBERG~ Well, of course, we are not 

concerned --

MRo SCHWARTZ~ Of course, it doesn't bar a lunatic 

or an infanto You know the statute would be tolled in 
' 

their situationso 

MRo GREENBERG: we are Just concerned with the 

Stateo 

MRo SCHWARTZ~ Yeso 

MR. GREENBERG~ Well, suppose the State passed a 

law that after 30 years anyone in possession of State 

riparian land, in good faith, would be deemed to have 

title. 

MRo SCHWARTZ~ Well, isn 8 t that in effect what 

I'm saying? I made mine 20 yearso I would be willing to 

make it 300 I mean, would you vest the persons who have 

a color or of record title to whom the property has been 

assessed, yo~ vest the title in theme I mean, in effect 

you are suggesting~- I don't care the form that it takes 
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I mean 9 your thought may be Just as good, if not better 

than mine 9 but I mean that would be Just some of the 

mechanics that would have to be worked outo 

SENATOR HAINES~ We have been talking about being 

assessed as one of the criteria for ownership, you wouldn't 

suggest t hat as s essment be one of the essential stipulations 

with respect to determining ownership? 

MRo SCHWARTZg Frankly, I put that in for the 

purpose of establishing good faitho In other words, if the 

State is going to vest title in somebody who has been 

occupying lands, we donnt want to deprive the State of anything 

its entitled to and yet we are trying to be fair to our 

citizenso Certainly if a man is in possession under a 

color of title, the chances are that he has been in there 

in good faith and he hasn 8 t Jumped in there just for the 

purpose of trying to get the benefit of this act, or 

something of that natureo 

Now I don 8 t think that the as s essment is essential 

if he has a good record titleo I know t hat most of the 

situations that we have run into 9 there have been deeds of 

record for thes e ma rshland s and meadowlands for perhaps a 

hundred yearso 

SENATOR HA I NES ~ Yeso Are we, in talking about 

assessments getting into a bit of dangerous area if we 

stipulated that that be a condition because we are 

actually experiencing many municipalities along the coast, 

particularly 9 that have no t had tax maps for - well, some 
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of them still don't and others have only had them in very 

recent years, and we would be in addition actually, with 

respect to the boundaries, giving credence to t he tax map 

with respect to its lineso And we know that a tax map 

was never meant to be a survey, yet we are so apt to use 

what shows on a tax map as being a boundaryo It was never 

meant to be a surveyo 

MRe SCHWARTZ ~ Thatns true o I certainly have no 

objection to omitting the assessment as one of the require-

mentso As I say, I put it in solely for the benefit of 

the State, trying to be impartial on both sideso I do think 

that if the State hasnVt exercised control for 20 or 30 

years and the person has been in possession under color 

of title either by deed or will, which would identify the 

property, that should be sufficiento 

MRo GRASSO : Did I understand you correctly, that 

you are suggesting the substitution of the navigability 

test rather than ebb and flow of the tide? 

MRo .SCHWARTZ ~ Thatns one of the things that I 

suggested, yeso As a matter of fact, up until not too 

long ago it was thought i n this State t hat the State only 

had title to waters with regard to navigable streamso ItVs 

the recent cases that have established that the test · is ebb and 

flow of the tide, not the navigability of the streamo 

MRo GRASSO ~ Doe snnt the navigability test raise 

just as many actual problems as your so-called ebb and 

flow of the tide? 
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MR. SCHWARTZ: Well, I was going to suggest this, 

if the State is willing to go along with the navigability 

test when they fix the line, · such as I suggested, they 

could also determine which streams are navigable and to 

what extent. So that for once and for a 11 you would have. 

that question laid to r est. I meanj that would be in with 

the fixing of the line. You have thousands of streams that 

are not navigable but they are affected slightly by the ebb 

and flow of the ti de, and under the present regulations 

the State certainly would claim title to that land. 

SENATOR HAINES~ Are there any other questions of 

Mr. Schwartz? 

Thank you a lot for your contribution, Mr. 

Schwartz. 

MR. SCHWARTZ~ Thank you. 

SENATOR HAINESg We will be calling on you for 

some more help., 

Mr. Fred Yahrling. Do you want to come to the 

microphone and speak? You indicated that you would like 

to speak. 

FRED YAHRLING~ I don 8 t think it's necessary 

because I think the question is irrelevant to what you 

are trying to do. I was interested in somebody explaining 

to me how they arrive at mean high tide water. 

SENATOR HAINESg Of coursej we would not give from 

the Chair, here, an opinion to you on t hat but, as you have 

already indicated, listening to authorities speak you are 

beginning to get some clarification, are you not? 
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MRo YAHRLING~ Righto 

SENATOR HAINES g So we appreciate your being here 

and if your being here can be helpful t o youj thatus fineo 

If you want to say something laterg you can so indicateo 

Ro Ee Hutchinsono 

R. Eo HUTCHINSONg 

SENATOR HAINESg 

I passo 

Thank youo 

Jo Wo Acton 9 Wildwood, New Jersey o 

Jo Wo ACTON: As I indicated on my slipj 

I do not particularly care to be heardo 1 8m here for 

education and refinemento 

I represent some 40 or 50 individuals who have 

built homes adjacent to a public highway on land which is 

occasionally, some of it, flowed by high tidej once a 

montho Some more of it, occasionally, when there is a 

heavy northeaster is also flowedo 

We liej of course, on the island of Wildwood 

on a sand bar beyond what you would call good lando On 

Wildwood Island there are almost no cellarso I think the 

postoffice has one and the Woolworth Buildingo But outside 

of that we are almost below water levelo 

I had for a client a man who told me he remembered 

when the tide from the ocean and the bay met at the place 

where our railroad station now isj and used to do it with 

considerable regularity on the northeasterso 

What are you going to call mean high tide? I 

want to join with the gentleman who spoke lasto !snit the 

sovereign right limited to between the mean high tide, that 
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is of the State, and the mean low water. Is any splash of 

the tide to confer sovereign rights on the State? 

We are interested because some of our lands are and 

were actually only flowed maybe once a yeare Some of them 

are maybe flowed every montho 

Now some of us have record title, some of us 50o 

1vm going to speak for the whole 50 at this tlmeo Some of 

us have record tltleo There ls apparently a record title 

on parts of it at least extending back to 19100 I haven't 

gone back further than thato 

I had an owner who apparently lost interest in the 

area after he had filed maps showing lot and block sub-

dlvlslono There is a map which indicates a high water mark 

at that time but that surveyor has long since departed this 

life and it will be impossible to prove whether or not in 

the year 1910 t hat was t he actual high water marko 

Our marsh or meadowland area, extending from high 

landj good la~d where I am going to say the soil is loam, 

to the territory which is the sand bar, which is the 

island, is interspersed with small islands, occasionallyo 

On Rio Grande Boulevard ~there is a place of about 4 acres 

separated entirely from anything elsej which is well wooded, 

has holly trees and other growth of, 1vm going to say, 40, 
50 and 60 years, of considerable size, and you can hardly 

get to it, you couldn°t get to it without bootso I'm 

interested in what the State does claim the riparian rights 

covero 

Now s ome of my clients are acknowledgedly squatterso 
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They were invited by the municipality to come settle there. 

They have never been taxed for their land. Title to the 

land is in this main company, I believe, or title to most 

of the area, but they have been taxed for the improvement 

on that land as a personal propertyo Where do they stand? 

And as a class, shouldnnt they be considered? That is not 

confined to the boulevards, State highways leading into the 

Island of Wildwood at all. 

There is a similar condition, pretty much, 

throughout our countyo The Stone Harbor Boulevard, the 

Sea Isle City Boulevard, the Ocean City Boulevard, have a 

number of citizens - three or four of mine are people who 

are retired and on pension, a couple of widows, - these 

folks, I think, have rights which are at least comparable 

to those of the State and should be considered by your 

Commission when it makes its recommendations. 

Thank you very much. 

SENATOR HAINES ~ Thank you. 

I would like to pres ent Senator Richard Stout 

to the group. He has just joined us. He is a member of 

the Commission. 

Mro Hea t on Underhill representing the New Jersey 

Fish and Game Councilo 

Ao HEATON UNDERHILL~ IVfy name is 
A. Heaton Underhill, Director of t he Division of Fish and 
Game of the New Jersey Department of Conservation and 
Economic Developmento I am speaking in behalf of the New 
Jersey Fish and Game Council, the agency established by law 
to formulate basic policy for the conservation and manage-
ment of New Jerseyns fish and wildlife resources. 
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We welcome this opportunity to appear before the Riparian Study 
Com..1ission because riparian legislation and its e.dminlstration 
have a vital impact on fish and wildlife conservation, and, for 
thPt matter, on the outdoor recreetional opportunities of a large 
percentage of our citizens. 

At one time. the people ot New Jersey held title to all riparian 
lands in the state or colony. As the state developed under a more 
or less laissez-faire economy. legisletion was ene.cted to provide 
for private acquisition and development or use of these lands. An 
effort was made to protect the common interest by stipulating that 
revenue from these sales or leases would establish a fund for the 
support of free public schools. For a number of years, this pro-
gram was administered so vigorously that almost s.11 of the ocean 
front riparian lands and a large proportion of those of our bays 
and estuaries are now under private control. 

We believe that basically this wee a short-.: aighted policy. While 
the orderly growth of the state required that there should be 

. private use and development of much riparian land, we see todey 
th~t the public interest would have been better served if the state 
had retained control of certain areas and locations. 

It is not our purpose here today to "cry over spilt milk". There 
are still many areas where public control of riparian rights should 
be maintained. 

New Jersey is a vital, in tact. an lndispenssble link in the Atlan-
tic Migratory Bird Flyway. Our coastal marshes provide food and 
shelter for millions of waterfowl and water birds which. in turn, 
provide hunting opportunity and aesthetic pleasure not only to 
New Jersey's citizens, but also to millions from Maine to Florida. 

Our marine waters support a sizeable commercial fishery for food 
fish, menhaden and shell fish. This represents an important seg• 
ment of our economy. Our marine sport fishery 1s also of tremendous 
importance. Beside providing recreation and e sou.rce of food for 
hundreds of thousands of individuals annually, the expenditures of 
these fishermen contribute several hundred million dollars to the 
economy or the state. · 

Recent studies have shown and are continuing to show not only the 
tremendous importance of these riparian and estuarine areas as 
spawning and rearing grounds for many of our most important fin and 
shell fishes, but also that much of the basic f .ertil1ty ot our 
coastal waters is the result or nutrients released by tidal action 
in our marshes and estuaries. 

How do these considerations tie in to a riparian study? 
instances. f1111ng, dredging, bulkheading or draining of 
~arshes can only be accomplished through the procurement 
grants. · 
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Over great portions ot our sea coast, our bays, and our tidal 
streams, public access for fishing, swimming, wading, crabbing, 
boat launching or other recreational use has been lost through 
private acquisition of riparian r1ghts1 Great segments of our 
coastal marshes have been forever destroyed. 

We do not contend that the wise and orderly development of New 
Jersey should not include the conversion of marshlands into indus-
trial or residential sites. We further recognize that in many 
cases there should be private control and development of riparian 
_lands for piers, bulkheads, port facilities or even private pro-
tection. However, we do believe that the state must retain riparian 
control .of sufficient areas to preserve our fish and wildl-ife 
resources end to provide adequate recreational access and oppor-
tunity for present and future generations. 

Illustrative of the increasing public awareness of the importance 
of wetle.nds and other recreational e.reas are: the 1960 legisla-
tive action to raise hunting and fishing license fees solely for 
lend acquisition; fed&ral authorization of $105,0UO,OOO for marsh 
preservation, end the current New Jersey referendum for a $60,000,000 
Green Acres Bond Issue. The indiscriminate relinquishing of ripar-
ian rights could in large measure nullify all of these programs. 

In your review of riparisnlaws, procedures and problems, we urge 
that you give careful consideration to these conservation and 
recreational values. We suggest that recommendations be made tor 
some type of riparian zoning whereby those marshes, .estuaries and 
other riparian lands that can best serve the comr11,.,n f!OOd by preser-
vation in a natural state can be so preserved. To this end we offe~ 
the complete cooperetion of this Council and the services of all 

. Division of Fish and Gr-.me employees who can assist you in your study 
of these complex problems. 

SENATOR HAINES: Are there any questions of Mr. Underhill? 

Mr. Underhill, we appreciate your having taken you time 

and effort to give us this slant on the importance of the subject 

that we are talking about. 

MR. UNDERHILL: Thank you, Senator. 

SENATOR HAINES: It is something that could easily have 

been overlooked . 

MR. UNDERHILL: We appreciate the opportunity of 

presenting thjs side of the problem. 



SENA.TOR HAINES: Mrso Harold Hayes. 

H A R O L D HAYES: My request may 

be in already. I wrote to Senator Haines and several 

other Senators about this. 

We live in Beach Haven and our property is on 

the bay front and then we have 12th Street on the south 

side of us. It's rather a complicat ed problem inasmuch as 

we wanted to improve our property and construct a bulkheado 

We secured our grant and a permit and we bui lt the 

bulkhead and we asked the Borough Commissioners if t hey 

would bulkhead the street end at the same timeo They 

declined our request saying that they didn't have a grant 

and they couldn't do anyt h ing until they got the grantso 

So we waited a sufficient time and we went back 

and asked them again. And they said no= well, one 

Commissioner said that they had app lied for the grant and 

the others said they d i dn't know what was going on and 

they couldn't do anything until they got the grant~ which 

we felt was a fallacy since t here a r e street end s in other 

sections of town that are bu l kheaded and we know it to be 

a fact that they do not have the grants for those 

particular streets. 

So time passed and we had a hurricane l as t fall 

and a lot of our property was cut away. And in the meantime 

there was a dock built out there, on State water, and t here 

was a big argument about that and they removed the dock, 

or the State did. 

So, in the meantime, si nce the Commissioners had 
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such an attitude about bulkheading the street and they 

refused to even lis t en t o us, they wouldn 9 t acknowledge 

the erosion, - even on our deed t he r e should be a street 

95 feet from our east l ine whe r eas we only have an i mpr oved 

street of less t han 35 fee t beca us e it has been e r oded so -

but the Commissioners wouldn 't even conside r the erosion 

problem. 

So we had no r ecours e but to go to t he State 

and t hen apply for the gr ant ourse lves fo r t he s t r eet endo 

Upon applying for the grant we f ound out that the Borough 

had al r eady appl i ed f or t he grant al most t wo years previousiyo 

Now, what we want t o s uggest is tha t in Articles 

33 and 34, or Sections 33 and 34, which says that the Borough 

does not have to give the adjo i n ing pr operty owner 6 

months notice, we feel a s t hough t hat probably started out 

as a very good law, t he r e wa s a r eas on fo r t hat like, say 

the Borough wanted to bui l d a r oad and we a s a property 

owner tr ied t o stop t hem becaus e of our i nt e r es t in the 
I street, well then Sect ions 33 and 34 woul d pr event us from 

stopping the Bor ough f r om making i mpr ovements t o t he s t ree t o 

But i t seems a s t hough in t his i nstance Secti ons 33 and 34 
have been very misconstrued and misus ed becaus e t hey don 9 t 

want to g ive us t he improvements t hat we want o We want 

a street and we want pr ot ection from e rosiono 

In this las t hurricane we lost mo r e f i l l, more 

grave l , and a l l we want t o do is buil d up a lit t l e business 

and improve t he pr operty , improve t he street , and be a 

credit to t he t owno But beca us e of t hi s negative a t titude 
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on the part of the Commissioners - and what their purpose 

is is unknown because they won't di scuss !to And while 

there's nothing, I suppose, that we can do now about 

Sections 33 and 34 for the protection of future or other 

property owners who might run into this same problem, when 

a Borough applies for a grant on a street the property owners 

should have the benefit of 6 months notice so that they can 

find out for what purpose the borough wants to use that 

street, because we have a grant that goes out in the water 

and suppose we want to fill in our entire grant= we can 

to the pierhead and bulkhead lines= and the borough says, 

"Well, this street ls ours now and we arenVt going to 

build a street, it's our grant and even though the 

dedication is there we aren°t going to honor it." 

So it seems to me that in t ha t section of the 

Riparian Laws that the property owners should be pro~ 

tected when the law is misconstrued and misusedo 

SENATOR HAINESg Mrso Hayes, we are happy t o 

hear from you on your problem which we r ecognize is not 

an isolated situation and we will take into consideration 

the problems that you call to our attentiono 

MRSo HAYES g Well, I certainly appreciate your 

taking the time to hear it because we felt that while 

it's our little personal problem right there, i t could 

become a problem for other peopleo 

SENATOR HAINESg Yes, we r ecognize that it does 

have some general aspectso Thank youo 

Frederick Greiner, do you wish to add anything to 

the statement that you filed with us? I think it touches 

on some very important aspects of the subject before uso 
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F R E D E R I C K p. G R E I N E R: We 11, 

Senator, there is no purpose in taking the time of the 

Connnission or anyone else here now t o read it into the 

record. If you see fit to include it, that's fine, but I 

certainly have no desire now to read into the record the 

statement I have already made to the Commission. 

Mr. Schwartzr suggestions seem to have a good deal of 

merit to me, but I think Mr. Grasso pointed out a weakness 

that by adopting such procedures as he has in mind, we may be 

substituting one set of problems for another. It seems to me 

that the thing the Commission should strive for ls to establish 

certain standards by which these questions can be determined. 

Much of our problem today, 1 think, arises from the fact that 

we don• t have ground rules by l hl ch we can determine how the 

game is to be played. We are never qui te sure until the last 

moment at any time how the applicat i on made on behalf of the 

riparian owner will be handled. If the upland owner knows 

the basis on which the State will determi ne his application 

and pass on it, then he is in better posit ion to know whether 

an application should be made and what the probable cost of 

the grant will be, and particularly i n the case of industry, 

on behalf of which I am mainl y i ntere s ted , the industry will 

be better able to determine whether it can proceed with a 

project in which riparian lands are to be used. As it now 

stands, it never quite knows wha t the State vs pos i tion will 

be on any of the s e t hi ngs and on any of t he quest i ons that 

have been discus sed this mo rni ng . And 1 ask ca l mly that the 
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Commission give consideration to developing some s t andard by 

which we can all determine the Slater s r i ghts and wha t the 

State wi 11 do about them. And one thing more - that there be 

one agency to which an appl i cant f or a ri p arian grant can 

turn to obtain it. 

I had an experience some years ago in wh i ch a c l ient 

purchased for a very substant i a l s um a t rac t of land be lo n ging 

to the State Highway Department , o r at l east we thou ght belon ged 

to the State Highway Department - the Highway De par t me nt had 

acquired it some years before and had obtained a r i par ian grant 

in connection wi th i t . Over the ye a rs, part o f the f ast land , 

at the time of the acquisit io n, was take n away by action o f the 

tide, and the Navigat i on Bur eau, ac ti ng f or the St a te, t ook 

the position tha t the t i tle of t he St ate as acqu ire d by the 

Highway Department had be en l ost t o the St a te, re p r e sent ed 

by the Navigation Bureau . Th is makes very lit tl e se nse t o me. 

It seems to me that if you a re dealing with the St a te o f New 

Jersey and acqui r e i ts r i ght ~ , you shoul d do it once and for 

all and there s hould be one a gency that determines these 

matters and you will not f in d yourself in a position in which, 

because of in t erp l ay between de p artments of government, you 

are not sure when you buy from the St ate, alth ough yo u h ave 

a deed from t he State o f New Jers ey, t ha t i t rea l ly me ans 

that the State of New J ers e y is c onveyi n g al l of i t s right, 

title and i n terest. 

All I as k f o r is simp lification and some gr ound rules 

by whi ch we c an han d le t hese th i n gs. 

Thank yo u . 



SENATOR HP.INES~ Now, just a minute. Are there any 

questions of Mr. Greiner? 

MR. GRASSO: Mr. Greiner, you suggest rules and 

regulations. You mean that the Legislature should authorize 

administrative agencies to establish rules and regulations, 

or should that be set forth in detail in the law? 

rvlR. GREINER: Well, I think that broad·ly there could 

be standards established in the law. There will be necessaril y 

determinations to be made under those broad standards and some 

agency, of course, will have to do that . The problem as I see 

it is that we donr t know what standards any of us are using in 

determining, for example, the question of where the title of 

the State ends and the title of the riparian owner begins. In 

this matter of land that was once flowed by the tide - this 

problem can be met by a conf irmatory grant to all the upland 

involved if it 1 s procured from the State , so long as we know 

that the State will make such grants and the basis on which it 

will make them. The determ i nat io n of whether any one particular 

area had in past years been flowed by the tide is a very 

difficult thin g. No one wants to get into the problem, but it 

can be resolved simply by a grant from the State to all of 

the upland involved, whether it was ever flowed by the tide or 

not. If the State ever did have an interest in i t, it now 

conveys it. But the State, I think, should reco~nize that it 

probably could not establish any claim to this land that was 

once flowed by the tide and, in fixing the consideration for 

such a quick claim grant, it should recognize that all it is 

doing in effect is satisfying the title companies; that 1 s what 
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we want, and 1 1 m sure the title companies are i nterested in 

simplification of methods and procedures so that these problems 

that are troubling them and troubling counsel for the upland 

owners can be resolved in a more simplified way. 

SENATOR HAINES~ Thank you, Mr. Greiner, 

Mr. Grassmann, do you want to contribute to this 

hearing? 

E D W A R D J 0 GRASSMAN N: I am Edward 

J. Grassmann of Elizabeth. I have headed a surveying firm 

for more than fifty years and have dealt with the Riparian 

Commission and its predecessors dur ing that time on many, many 

occasions for myself and for the property owners that we 

represented. I and my companies own and have owned several 

thousand acres of meadlowland from Cape May to Essex County. 

In that time I have never known the Riparian Commission nor 

its predecessors to claim title to any mead lowland where it 

was above mean high tide. The determ ination of mean high tide 

is rather expensive as it !snit a level all over the State. 

You go up the Hackensack and Passaic and it's h i gher than it 

is at Sandy Hook at mean high tide~ and each location is 

different and it takes extensive observation to determine 

accurately. So you better make a big appropriation if you are 

goi ng to follow Mr. Schwartz 1 suggestion and determine the mean 

high tide over all the properties o f New Jersey. 

It has been a simple matter until the recent decisi on 

of our top court in Schultz vs. Wilson where , contrary to the 

procedure that has been the practice in th is State previously, 

expressed by Chancellor Williams, that navigability was a 

feature of it and that every little stream whe re you coul d go 
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up in a boat t .o shoot ducks was no t a navi gabl e stream and, 

there for e , the Stat e had no title to t ha t a r ea . Under thi s 

Schultz vs . Wilson dec i sion , the ebb and fl ow of the tide .alone 

is important. 

I enlarged this map of p ro pe rty down i n Cape May and 

you will notice that thi s area i s cove r ed with a lot of little 

weeny streams - we ca ll them guts or worms - al l thr ou gh this 

area here. 

Now, under th is recent deci si on , the State owns all 

of these little streams and you would have t o get a riparian 

grant to cl e ar your title , even t his little one here (indicating) 

because th e tide eb bs and fl ows. 

Now, if you will r ead the d i recti ons to be followed 

in fil i ng a riparian applicati on , you wi ll note many th i ngs 

that you must comply wi th, i ncl ud ing surveys of these li tt l e 

streams and everyth i ng of tha t s ort whi ch woul d i nvolve great 

expense . The l and on that map so l d f or about $50 an acre 

recently - the meadowl and, not the good l and . You can see 

the area involved i n these l i t t l e streams is i ncons equential . 

So a lot of this newspaper talk about t he si xty mil l ion the 

State would lose if this deci si on was not s us ta i ned is nonsense, 

because I think the expens e t o th e State would be greater than 

the value of the area involved in these little streams. 

To that extent, I th i nk Mr. Schwartz ' su ggestion that 

the law go back to the old pract i ce befo r e this decision, or 

that the procedure go back t o that o ld pr actice , i s a com-

mendable one and s houl d be gi ve n consi de r a tion . 

In these e nvelopes are br i efs in cases, opi n ions by 

counsel, studi es of decisions in En g l an d and i n this St at e 
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and other states which you may find helpful, so I made nine 

copies of them and brought them down here. You can throw 

them in the wastebasket or you can glance over them. I think 

you will find them very interesting. 

I might incidentally add that I happen to be the 

Surveyor General of the Proprietors of East New Jersey, and 

the proprietors have granted practically all the land of East 

New Jersey, including these meadowlands. Many years ago there 

was an attempt on the part of the propr ie tors to claim, under 

the grant of the King to his brother, that the proprietors had 

some ri ght to the land below high-water line, but that was 

knocked out by our courts more than a hundred years ago -

a hundred and twenty years ago. So that situaticin is very 

clear. 

I have airplane maps through most of the coastal area 

in my bag over here - I wonr t bother you with them - showing 

innumerable thousands and tens of thousands of these little 

guts or worms, as they are called in deeds. They are very 

prevalent and plentiful throughout the State, and I donY t 

think the Riparian Commission wants to have jurisdiction over 

them, because they will lose a lot of money if they do. 

Thank you, gentlemen. 

SENATOR HAINES: Thank you. Are there any questions 

of Mr. Grassman? 

MR. GREENBERG: Isnrt that a question also now whether 

some of this land between the worms is in doubt, in view of 

this Sisselman case? 

MR. GRASSMAN: I donr t think so, because the mean high 

water line does not flow over it. Now, if you are go ing to say 
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any place that the tide ever flows over, then you can take 

most of the area in North Jersey along the coast. You take 

in Elizabeth, South Front Street - i n El iz abeth every time 

there is a hurricane or a spring tide, it has about two foot 

of water over it and the barrels of the oil companies float 

around the street and in the yards, and you cantt park cars. 

Sometimes you can~t get to work for a day or so, ·especially 

when one of our hurricanes comes to the area. Now, certainly 

the State caniot claim title to that land. If that's the case, 

then every bit of this meadowland probably belon gs to the State 

if the tide ever flows over it, ever once - a year or on the 

spring tides whi ch are about two-foot above the mean high tide , 

which occur every month. But there is no decision in this 

State, and I have never heard of the riparian commission con-

tending that that gave them title, the fact that at exceptionally 

high tide, whether a northeast wind or an east wind, would cause 

the water to go over there and would give title to the State of 

New Jersey. That never was contended in this State, in England, 

or in any other State in the U~ion, and I don 1 t think it was 

intended in that case , the Sisselman case. The Sisselman case 

would never have been presented , because they hadn vt the 

evidence to show where the high tide was.. They came in my 

office, and I told them, nyou r re foolish. Your 11 be trimmed 

good and plenty if you go into that case.tt And many a man has 

been hung because the evidence wasn ' t presented pvoperly and 

many a man who should have been hung wasn 1 t hung because he had 

a good lawyer. And I think that this case that was decided by 

our Superior Court would not have been decided as it was 

decided if al l the evidence, the pertinen t evidence that we have 
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here, had been presented to the court. 

SENATOR HAINES: Thank you very much, Mr. Grassman. 

MR. GRASSMAN: Do you want this? 

SENATOR HAINES: I think most of us on the Commission 

are rather familiar with that --

MR . GRAS SMAN: I am not contending that this isnr t 

riparian, the larger streams, something like that, but this 

is what concerns me because of the expense of making a survey. 

SENATOR HAINES: Maybe you can help us with the 

definitions so it will be ironclad. 

MR. GRASSMAN: 

of them around here. 

I am not a lawyer, and you have a lot 

SENATOR HAINES: Well, you can use the English 

language pretty well. 

MR. GRASSMAN: Occasionally, I can murder it. 

SENATOR HAINES: We do not have a memo that would 

indicate that anyone else is interested in speaking. However, 

are there others who would like to speak? Just a minute, 

Mr. Schwartz. Would you defer your remarks for a minute? 

MR. SCHWARTZ: I have someth i ng I want to add, but I 

will defer it. 

SENATOR HAINES: Are there going to be o thers? No. 

Well then, after this gentleman and Mr. Schwartz have spoken, 

we will probably adjourn the hearing. 

And what is your name? 

J O S E P H M. L Y N C H: My name is Joseph 

M. Lynch and I am the Town Engineer of Secaucus. I have been 

asked to attend the hearin g and express tre 
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concern of Secaucus with regard to the meadowland problem 

which has been discussed here. 

Secaucus has approximately 25 per cent of its area 

bordering on the Hackensack River and known as meadowland. 

I studied the definitions with regard to the tide, as to 

what constitu tes meadowland, and what is land and what is 

water, and I find that it is near impossible to draw a line. 

It is complicated by a thousand engineering factors, the flow 

of the streams, the flow of the rivers, the rain water under 

certain conditions. Any engineering survey that has been 

discussed would be fantastically expensive; it would run into 

many ~illions of dollars to determine an accurate line. 

We have a great deal of industrial development takin g 

'place. Most of the meadowland was zoned for industrial purposes. 

It has been occupied by the so-called nuisance uses in the 

past - dumps, farms - and this has changed and we have an 

industrial development program today that vitally affects the 

community and the county and the State. We are told that this 

program is in danger because of the decis i ons by the title 

companies with respect to defining ownersh i p of the meadowlands. 

As a result, Secaucus is most conc erned and would like to urge 

that the Commission: arrive at whatever decision they may arrive 

at as quickly as possible. 

I would like to suggest that in the case of Secaucus 

the drawing of a new boundary that would be acceptable to 

the federal authorities who have jurisdiction over the river 
l 

and are familiar with the problems and that would take into 

account that land which has been known as Secaucus boundary 

could be accomplished quite simply. We would be glad to furnish 

a line which we believe is the boundary of Secaucus and which 
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would be subject to any reasonable pu b lic use or public purpose 

and that would solve our problem. 

I would like to state further that I think there isn•t 

any easy solution. I think Solomon had it easy after 

listening to the problems that were j ust outlined. Obviously, 

there will be different solutions for different areas. The 

problem of the areas bounded by the ocean is quite different 

from the problem of the areas bounded by rivers or streams. 

Some lands are valueless, and ? Ven def i ning a boundary, as 

mentioned before, might be a great deal more costly than the 

value of the land itself. In the case of Secaucus, land 

value is quite hi gh because of the development that has taken 

place, and definin g a boundary is a relatively simple problem 

for us. 

I think that the su ggestion that was prioposed .b..f .iMr. 

Schwartz with re gard to fixin g a line i s the answer, at least 

in our case, and we would like to recommend it. I think also 

that a body should be established and that b road powers should 

be assi gned to the body and they should be gi ven the right to 

set these boundaries, as was s tated pre vi ou s ly by another 

gentleman, and that s :b anda r ds be us-ed in def i n i ng the boundar i es , 

giving weight to the requirements of the State wf th respect to 

recreation purposes, with respect to the Fi sh and Game Com-

mission requirements and ~hy other a gencies. 

I think that just about covers it. 

SENATOR HAINES: Do any of t he Comm issio ner s have 

questions of Mr. Lynch ? I f not, I want to thank you, Mr. 

Lynch, for com i n g and cont ri bu tin g. 

Now, Mr. Schwartz. 
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MR. SCHWARTZ: I dontt know whether Itm the hero 

or the villain in these proceedin gs after hearing the slaps 

and pats about the title companies, but I do think that the 

Commission should bear one other th i ng i n mind that is of 

great interest to all shore mun i c i pal it ies, and I 1 m sorry that 

my own Senator, Senator Stout, i sn 1 t present at this time. 

Most municipalities at some t i me o r another have, 

with the aid of the State and the county, built jetties out 

into the ocean . Now, at the t i me t he jetty was built, the 

municipality was the owner of the upland or the land beyond 

the high water line. As a result of the bu i lding of the 

jetty, there has been accretion , say , of 50 or 100 feet. Now, 

it has come to my attention - and I don 1 t know whether 1 1 m 

violating a confidence or not; I don t t think it is at this 

time - but in a recent conversation I had with Justice Haneman 

he told me he understood that the Department was goin g to 

claim any accretion of that type, on the theory that it was 

artificial accretion and , theref o re, the owners hip remained 

in the State and did not accrue t o t he mun i c i pal i ty. 

Now, if you th i nk logically ab out this, it is true 

that under the the o ry o f the law as we p resentl y know it, 

no man can benefit by h i s own effo rts in ga i n ing accretion. 

It must be natural accret io n . Yet thi s a ccre t ion i s caused 

by a combination of fac t ors . Th i s is sor t of a partnership 

between the State, which is desirous i n the public interest 

of protecting the beache s from e r osio n , and the municipality 

which also has a similar conside ra t i on for i t s own constituents , 

and it would certainl y seem t o me that the Le gislature should 

pass a law that accretion of tha t typ e-- s h ould be considered 
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natural accretion and accrue to the municipalities along the 

shore. I think it would be hi ghly unfair for the Department 

to claim that that is artificial accretion. I don 1 t think it 

could ever be established. I mean, it might possibly be caused 

by the new jetty; on the other hand, it might just be caused 

by a change in the tide, because, as anybody who has lived at 

the shore knows, there is no account i ng for why there is 

accretion or erosion. You can have erosion with a jetty and 

you can have accretion without it. I think it is something 

that should be considered. 

SENATOR HAINES: Thank you, Mr. Schwartz. 

We have had letters and memoranda from persons who 

have not spoken, and we would like these letters and memoranda 

to be put in the record. I would like to acknowledge that we 

did ge t a letter from Francis J . Ward, of Sutton, Yoder & Ward, 

Toms River, having to do particularly with the procedure of 

grants. We also have a letter from Percy Camp, County Counsel 

of Ocean County, in which he expresses particula r concern 

about an applicant for a riparian gr ant showin g the locati on 

of the proposed grant with reference to the nearest road and 

indicating drainage easement through the proposed grant. 

Fred C. Freeman, of Plainfield , formerly with the 

Department of Navigation, is here; he has no t asked for the 

floor but has submitted a memorandum having to do with his 

observations with respect to the statutes on riparian grants 

from his long experience in the Department. 

The Department has submitted a memorandum from 

Frank Nunziant to Anthony Scoppetuolo in which he has outlined 

suggestions for amending the statutes and the administrative 

61 



regulations. 

Another department memorandum that is on file with 

this Commission is one from F. B. Cogan , Assistant Chief 

Engineer, to Peter Gannon on the subject of "Thoughts on 

Permit and Riparian Matters. 11 

James Rankin, Chief Engineer of the Bureau of 

Navigation, has made some observations on the riparian law, 

and I believe we recognized the commun i cation from Frederick 

Greiner when he made his remarks. We want his submitted 

statement to be part of the record as well. 

There bein g no others who care to talk on the 

subject, I would like to ask my fellow Commissioners if they 

have anything that they want to say at this time. 

There bein g no further comments or observations, I 

would like, as Chairman of the Commission, to take this 

opportunity to most sincerely thank the people who have been 

here today in order to make su ggestions to the Commission 

on this ,s subject. I would hope that the Commission, after 

having had opp?rtun i ty to evaluate the suggest i ons and other 

material that it has before it, wi ll without delay be able to 

come up with a recommendation t o the Leg i slature to clarify 

the riparian law and procedure . Thi s wi l l be very gratifying 

to all of us and I would say for the Commission that we will 

bend every effort toward having recommendat i ons by this Com-

mission to the Legislature expedited . Again, thank you all 

for your contribution. 

HEARING C ON C LUDED . 
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',tatement by Mayor Thomas Gangemi, City of Jersey City, before the 
Legislative Study Commission on Riparian Laws, Wednesday, Cctober 
16, 1961. 

. Chairman Haines and Members of the Study Commission: 

Jersey City has just undergone a complete revision of its 
form of government, replacing a commission form under which 
the City was governed since 1913, with a Mayor-Council form. 
One major reason the City of Jersey City elected to revise its 
municipal government was a realized need for a major effort 
towards community renewal. My administration has adopted a 
program of community development including planning, housing, 
urban renewal and economic development elements. Critical to 
the accomplishment of effective renewal in Jersey City is the 
strengthening of our tax base and the industrial development of the 
City. 

Large areas in Jersey City suitable for new industrial de 
velopment, including a large area which the New Jersey Markets 
Commission is preparing to develop for an integrated food dis-
tribution center to serve the New York Metropolitan area, are 
currently in the Meadowlands of the Hackensack River. Portions 
of these meadowlands may be subject to riparian rights held by 
the State. Accordingly, Jersey City has an interest in the elimina-
tion of any confusion in titles because of the possibility of the 
State's riparian claims. Moreover, the reclamation of the 
Hackensack meadowlands and the work of the Meadowlands Regional 
Development Agency are of great interest to Jersey City since the 
development of the 14, 000 now vacant acres in this vast and im-
portant area will accrue major economic benefits to the City as 
well as Hudson and Bergen counties. 

On August 15, the Bureau of Navigation of the Department 
of Conservation and Economic Development claimed riparian 
title 11 011 all frontages along Newark Bay, Hackensack and Passaic 
Rivers and tributory tidal waterways, not already under conveyance 
from the State or legal occupation under Freeholders license, etc." 
Specific parcels were listed but Jersey City explicitly had not been 
examined. This action by the State has thrown doubt on the title 
to properties throughout the Hackensack area including Jersey City. 
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The work of the Meadowlands Regional Development Agency, 
the decision by Judge J. Wallace Leyden in the Siselman case and 
the State Bureau of Navigation's report have brought to the fore-
front problems with respect to Jersey City 's Meadowlands area and 
the future industrial development which Jersey City hopes to achieve 
in these areas. We must now insist respectfully that the State under-
take to accomplish the immediate clarification of the law with regard 
to riparian rights and the extent of these rights which the State may 
claim in Jersey City. 

A number of suggestions to be put before you by the Meadow-
lands Regional Development Agency have considerable merit and I 
ask that this Commission take under careful consideration these, 
as well as all proposals leading to expeditious resolutions of the 
problems which now tend to impede the progress of the industrial 
development and renewal in Jersey City . 

I would like to commend the action of the Legislature in 
creating your Commission and to offer the services of the City's 
legal, engineering and planning staff toward whatever determina -
tions may be necessary by this Commission or by any agency created · 
to carry out the establishment of legal and factual solutions to these 
problems, which may be necessary. 

Thank you. 

Mayor Thomas Gangemi 



SUTTON, YODER & WARD . 

WIL~IAM SUTTON 

COUNSELLORS AT LAW 

2 0 6 H O 'R N C R ST R E ET 

T .OMS RIVER , N . J . BRICf' TOWN SHI~ ,:,,-,-ICE : 
zeza HOOPER AVCNUC 

BRICK TOWN, N . J . 

1 LCSTCR YOOCR , JR 
(RANCIS J. WARD 
RICHARD 0 . SUTTON 

OIAMON0 .'9 · 46!!,0 

HERBERT C . HEIM 
JAMES G . HENRY September 13, 1961 
W. SCOTT ALLEN 

I . 

Mr. Yeter J. Gannon, Secretary 
Ripa~ian Study Commission 
137 East State Street 
Trenton 9, New Jersey 

Dear Sir: 

AC ~LY TO : 

Toms Rive 

Pursuant to your printed notice inviting ·statements · 
of recommended changes in f~parian law, I would suggest the 
following: 

1. Cut down the number of ·sigriatures required to 
the Grant instrument. Uoµld this not .reduce the time for 
processing of the Grant ·? · Would it not ·be possible to 
merely have the Grant signed by the Attorney General and 
the Governor? 

2. The ;lnnovalion introduced during the past 
yea~ of omitting from the Grant a metes and bounds 
description of the ripa should b~ discontinued. Reliance 
solely upon a map attached to a deed for a description of 
the premises conveyed is poor conveyancing practice. It 
is submitted tha·t your engineering department is in a better 
position to ~raft the description at the time th~ Grant is 
purchased than ~ny other person or time. A metci and 
bounds description ls necessary for later conveyances and 
mortgages. 

3. Whe:i;'e there. is a conveyance of the upland 
between the time of application for th~ Grant .before the 
date ·it is issued and recorded, and tqe: grantee in the Grant 
is not the owner of the upland on the date of delivery, the 
Grant by its terms is void. A simplified procedure should 
be worked out whereby the purchaser could receive an 
assignment from the seller-applicant of his rights to 
issuance of the Grant, and avoid a lone; further delay in 
processin5 of a new application. 



SUTTON, YODER & WARD SHEET NO. 2 To Mr. Peter J. Gannon, Secretary 
Riparian Study Commission 

4. The phrase printed on the backer of the Grant 
"Recorded in Liber Page, 11 which is used to refer merely 
to the recording in bool<: and page in the Navigation Bureau 
records should be eliminated from the backer, as this is 
misleading to laymen rece.i ving the Grant instrument, 
causing them to believe it has already been recorded as a 
deed in the County Clerk or Registrar's office. 

5. \·!here a public street crosses the upland and 
runs along the high water mark, it has been required that 
the applicµnt apply to the municipality to release its 
rights before the ·owner of the upland can obtain a Grant. 
Specific modified release procedure should be set up, as 
in practice this delays issuance of a Grant for many more 
months. There is no reason the Grant may not issue with 
a clause stating that it is subject to the public easement 
in the upland; Just as it has been accepted that if there 
is a private easement or right of way in the upland !'or 
the benefit of a utility, the Grant may issue without 
release of rights of the utility. 

VeriJ truly yours, 

/7J}v--
Francis J. \'Jard 

1-•JH: ja 

66 



County of Ocean 
COUNTY COUNSEL 

27 WASHINGTON STREET 
TOMS RIVER, NEW JERSEY 

October 2, 19Gl 

State of New J ersey 
Legislative 3tudy Commission 
Riparian Laws 
137 East State Street 
Trentori 9, New Jersey 

Attention: Peter J. Gannon, Secretary 

Re: County of Ocean 

Gentlemen: 

This is in relation to your proposed public hearinc to 
be held October 18, 1961. 

OUr County .· Engineer, Lawrence F. Wagner, has : sur;gested 
that _there should . be included in the requiremenm of the Navi-
gation Bureau a provision that all applicants for Riparian 
Grants should show the location of the pr6posed riparian 
grant with reference to the nearest road, the grade of the 
road as it passes the premises in question, the manner in v:htch 
the road is drained and.if necessary,· should indicate a 
drainage easement through the proposed grant. 

The ::;a id appl ica t 1.on for Riparian Grant should also furnish 
a Certificate of Approval to be supplied by the County Engine~r 
or the Loe a 1 Municipal Eng ineer, depend inc; on whether er not the 
upland adjac ent to the riparian grant fronts on a County or loca 
road. · 

PC:LR 

c.c. Lnwrenc e F. Wagner 

Very truly yours, 
( ____!__) ' ,,- · 

~,,( ( -: . J {j ,l,,--f // /[' ' 

Pe re;.' r.'2mp 
County Counsel . 



.!iEMORANDUM 

COLiJ.ilSION TO STUDY THE LAW OF THI9 STATE PRETAINI.NG TO 

RIPARIAN RIGHTS AND TO PREPARE LEGISLATIO~ TO MODE&iISE 
· ·rB:1£ SAJiai: 

12: 3-8. TRE~Asa ON LANDS OF 'l'Ht S1'ATE 
l t eecme that the occuoa.at sho·llld be reponaible for 

a portion of . this exi:ienee in addition to paying a fee or · 
annual rental based upon a formular for the time covered by 
such occllpancy. For 1;1xam?le, an annual rental of say 7 per 
cent of the value of the riparian lands at the beginning of . 
the trespaaa~It appea~e.that the State must have some obliga.tDn 
should the t];"eapase extend for a considerable period of time. 

' . 

12: ,-9. GBAi.lJT ·ro P Ji;RSCN,~ CTHEft THA.L~ RIPARIAN o~rn~R 
There bas been some reluctancy t6 arrive at the _ 

amowlt to bs paid to the rl par1an owner, even though he bas 
redress in the Oour'ts to settle the value of the land involved. 
It i.p:Jears taat the addition to a new statute co·..1ld 1ncl1.1de 
the Governor and the Ai;:~ o:rnay General as follc,,rs: 

It shall ·ba 1a,vf1.1l for the Boa.rd, together witb the 
Qoveraor and the At ~otney G&n~ral ,to fix and determin~ the 
&illo .. rnt to be paid to ea.id Riparian owner; e·lio. 

12:3-15. LEASi 0~ SALi Oi ' BASIN3 
Tnls El 1~C tion i _s rather JOnfusing s1noe 1 t gi vea the 

Board the right to make a.ad sell tomthe owners .of cartain 
landA ,th~ right to have exclusive uso etc. then subsequent 
to !iling maps and surveys the basin eha.11 remain ao a publio 
basin ~to. -. 

12: 3-1$. RI 1)HT OF Y-lAY SE.P.mA'rING RitARlAN vW~~ERS LAiWS FROM 
TIDit/\'AT iR 1£TO. · · 

• • • I 

H~re lt appears that the right of way should be 
spelled o~t, indicatiug for what purpose and by _whom. For 
use aa a Street,park,aewer line,over~ead power lines etc. 

1~: 3-19. ES'l'ABLlSHA1.1£i.i T 0~' Pl li:RfLiAD AND BULKH~AD LIN ES A.1.0UlW 
ISLANDS tTC. 

12: }-20. SALE OR LEASE OF RIPAiUAN LA.i."~D°f, ARO.UND ISLAHDS ETC: 

t>Jo-rt It a.pp ,n s ·ta.at when speaking of Islands this section 
flhould/whether the islands are a.cove of below mean _ ~igh wa_ter. 

In the sale of an ialana below the wean higu water 
. line where there i e no upland owner, t-ae la.ads, 1 t oe ams that 

a pablic sale sho~l~ be the method of selling the IalaLrla. 

Paga ( 1) 
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rUEllORANDUM - (Continued) 

l .,. '%.__:;;3 "- • .r- • LEASE Oft GRAN'r TO PERSON OTHER THAN RIPARIAif OWNER; 

Thie refers to the notice to be given the u·:)land owner 
by the pr')spective purchaser of State lands under water.In add-
ition to the 6 months notice ,it a ppears that the prospective 
buyer file a formal application ~tating the pur"Ooso of t :v, 
purchase to be t11ad.a and that the buyer will Vii thin sa.y ( 6 months) 
start t ·.i~ project propesed and continue until completed. 

rhis is a. matter that should be studied with care oince 
tho pr~B')~Ctive buyer could obtain a lease and then default 
on his payments leaving the real u~land owner with an obstructtx>n 
in frout of his property that ha did not want there in the 
firet plaoe. 

12: ~25. RZNE~':AL OF LEASES ETC. 

There seems t~ be no reason the rental terms can not 
be made specifio and provided in the lease prior to execution, 
leaving no chance for future settlement that may be unsatisfact-
ory to the state. This ta no place for arbitration on future 
reatals. 

12: 3-33. GEt.\B'l' OF RIPARIAN LANDS FOR PARX,PLACE , STREET OR 
HIGHV{AY 

12:3-34. CONDITION I~ GRANT iTO. 

It se ems that in the above aeotiona theTe should be 
some mention .as to whe~ther fees can be charged or whether the 
area.ts conveyed shall rema in always free to the public. 

Also should there be 1neertcd a ati-oula.tion that the 
Board with the approval of the Governor and- the Attorney General 
may fix a lower fee then usual "Provided t ha t the grant or lease 
be for public uee ,except a char ge for actual maintenance costs, 
and that an anual audit ahall be furnished the Department 
and the State Treasurer. 

12: 3-36. REVOCABLE LEASE FOR NO~I NAL CONSID ERATION 

Since tha state should rec eive a fair prioe it .seem 
that this section could very well be consolidated with 12:}-33 
and 12:3-34 above. 

12:}-3~. COJFifuilTORY JRANTS AND LEASE6 
TO 

12: 3-44. 

In general thi s s e 2ms t o be in good form,however, 
paragr aph ( c.) in aeotion 12: 3-1~2 onould be pe.e e ervad. 

Page (2 ) 



l4EKORANDUJt . & ( Oon tinued ) 

12a}-45. IRROiiOUS GRANTS 

Sinoe this baa oauaed a hardship to an upland 
owne.r, 1 t appearo that some good would come, if the 5 year 
oooup&tion stipulation ~as exoluded from any new law that 
may go into eff eot. The .period of oooupation ia ue .. J&lly 
diaputable. 

There waa a oaee wher~ oocuoation continued for . 
many years with the true owner living adjacent unaware of 
the trespass in front of his uplands. 

rred o. rreeman. 
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TO: 

f'ROM: 

SUB1ECT: 

MEMORANDUM 

DATES October 5', 1961 

Anthony c. Scoppetuolo 

Frank Nunziant · 

I 

Suggestions ·tor amending the riparian statutes and 
revising the administrative regulations or the Bureau 
ot Navigati~n. 

Attached .are· the toregoing suggestions. 

FNaeh 
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STATUTF.,S 

"Pilrpresture" should be more specifically defined and assigned 
its own section nwnber, ·which should also specify that 
the State may assess agafn'st the person committing the 
purpresture a charge for use and occupan~y based upon 
the rental rate plus interest thereon for the period or 
the purpresture upon the State-owned lands. 
Note: · Purpresture is presently defined in general terms 

in the 2nd paragraph of section 4. -

Section 7 should specify that it applies only to tidewaters ot 
the Hudson River, N. Y. Bay and Kill von Kull (lying 
between Engard's dock on the Kill von Kull and the 
N. Y •. state line.) · 

Section 8 should define the lands owned by the State as being 
the lands lying" b~_low the ruit_ural mean high water line, 
which line shall pe the one established in its most 
recent location by evidence satisfactory to State. 

Section 9 should be eliminated. 
Note: After service of due notice and failure to apply! 

the riparian owner should not have any compensab e 
right • . After all, a riparian owner in the first 
instance only has a preemptive right to apply. 

' ' 

Section 10 should specify that they apply to tidewaters elsewhel'f 
than in the foregoing areas. However, there appears no 
reason why section 7 could not be eliminated and all areas 
included in section 10, which should also define "riparian 
owner" as the person who appears from the records of the 
particular county recording office to be the owner in fee 
simple of the upland adjoining the requested tideland on 
the date of issuance of the riparian instrument. "Date 
of issuance" should be defined as the date upon which the 
riparian instrument is ready for delivery and the consid~ 
eration has been paid; such date should appear in the 
instrument as well as the date of execution of the instru-
ment. Section 10 'should allow application to be made by 
a .person holding a contract for the purchase of the upland 
provided that such person submits a copy of such contract 
and the written consent of the present apparent record 
owner, unless such consent expressly appears in the con-
tract itself. An assignee of the person named as purchas•i 
in the contract should also be allowed to ap (1ly under the 
same conditions. If proof of rescission of the contract 
is submitted, the present apparent record owner should be 
allowed to apply on his own behalf. Provision should be 
made for additional preparation fees where changes in 
grantee·s are required after the original preparation or 
the instrument. Where changes in grantees are required, 
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r eexecution of the instrument should be required but 
r econsideration of the application should not be required. 
Section 10 should refer to section 16 for the method of 
fixing prices for grants and rentals for leases. 

Section 16 should specify that as to grantsi the prices are 
computed by charging a rate per foot a ong the bulkhead 
l ine, if there be such a line, or a rate per acre where 
a grant of the State's interest within the boundaries or 
the alleged upland is requested or a lump sum where 
several factors are involved and the charge is approximated; 
that lease rentals are computed at 7% of the capital price 
fixed for a grant; that all charges are within the discretio1 
of the Committee on Navigation and Riparian Instruments and 
that said Committee may consider existing market values in 
determining the prices or rentals. 

Section 18 should be amended to except the situation where a 
municipality or other political subdivision applies under 
section 33 and a marginal street is involved. 

Section 23 should be renumbered to follow section 10 and should 
be amended to specifically provide for written consent by 
the riparian owner and also should specify the contents of 
such consent. 

Section 33 should specifically give the municipality or other I 

political subdivision priority in all the specified 
situation$ and particularly where a riparian owner applies 
under section 18. Section 33 should also expressly specify 
that it is immaterial whether the municipality or the 
political subdivision has fee title or merely an easement 
in the existing park, place, street or highway. 

License should be specifically provided for in its own section. 
Note: License is presently referred to only in section$ 

and 22. 

All sections should be amended to specify Director of Resource 
Development, Council of Resource Development and Bureau of 
Navigation wherever applicable. 

RS 13 : lB-13 should be amende·d to require that riparian ins tru-
ments be approved and signed by a three member Conunittee 
on Navigation and Riparian Instruments and that process 
for such instruments be fixed by such Committee. The 
member of the Committee to be appointed from the twelve 
member Council by the Governor. Riparian instruments should 
also require the approval and sienatu.re of the Director of 
Resource Development, the Commissioner of Conservation and 
Economic Development, the Attorney General and the Govern~ 
should be attested by the Secretary of State. In the even 
that only two members of the Committee approve and one 
member 41sapproves, provision should be made for the 
Director of Resource Development or the Commissioner of 
Conservation and Economic Development or both to approve 
in order to override tho one member's disapproval. As to 
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matters of general policy affecting navigation and 
riparian rights, the approval ot a majority of the 
entire twelve member Council sh~uld still ·be required. 



ADMINISTRATIVE REGULA1'IONS 

We should accept certificates or title only from 
counsellors at law, title companys, and _county clerks. The 
present form of certificate merely states, that accordingto 
the records in the particular county clerk's office John 
Jones is the owner in fee simple of the premises th~reinafter 
described and that he has not disposed of his rignts in said 
lands so far as said records reveal. We have recently inserted 
blanks for -the specification of the particular deed book where 
said. deed is recorded •. It will be practicable to •dispense 
completely with the submission of a photocopy or certified 
copy of ·the deed by amending the certificate further as herein-
after stated. · · 

·The certtt·+cate should state: 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

. (f) 

(g) 

' . 
the recording date. 

the book and page where it is recorded. 

the names of the granters therein. 

the names of the grantees therein toge·ther with 
a statement as to the nature and extent of their 
right, title and interest. Note: for example: 
tenants by the entirety, joint tenants, tenants 
in common or tenants in partnership; tenants in 
corll'Tlon to the extent of two-thirds interest but 
having the consent of the other tenant in common 
to the extent of_ the other one-third interest. 

a certificate of title should only name the owners 
having respective interests in the same parcel or 
parcels of upland; if the applicants have interests 
in different parcels of upland, separate certificates 
of title should' be required to avoid confusion. The 
certificate of title should refer to any necessary 
consents and be accompanied by copies thereof. The 
description set fortb in the certificate should be the 
deed description, and if desired by the applicant , 
should be followed by a more current description 
based upon a survey with a proper recital that 
it is intended to describe the same land acquired by 
said deed. 

a state:aent that the survey accurately depicts the 
premises acquired by said deed and that any variations 
therefrom have been r econciled to the ·satisfaction of 
the maker of the certificate and that there is no 
real conflict between the deed and the survey as to 
the location of prope rty lines or as to the areas or 
fr ntaces involved . 
Note : It is t he burden of the applicant to prove his 

entitle11_1cnt to apply for ripnrian rights; it 
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is not the function of this Bureau to accept 
questionable claims of title or deeds replete 
with uncertainties and conflicts and to endeavor 
to substantiate the applicant's entitlement. 
Mmyhours are spent in computing, comparing, 
screening, letter writing, phone consultations, 
and office consultations with applicant's attorneys. 
title companysi and surveyors because deeds and 
surveys in obv ous conflict are submitted to our 
office for solution. This Bureau does not have 
sufficient personnel to properly determine by 
its ovm investigation the entitlement of the 
applicant within a reasonably short time. 

(h) the survey should show the names of adjoining land 
owners referred to in the deed description in addition 
to any more recent adjoining land owners designct ted 
on the survey. 

(1) a statement that there is no provision in the deed 
restricting or limiting the entitlement of the 
applicant to apply for a riparian instrument. 

The application should be made only by the persons in whom 
record title is invested. If the applicant desires that some 
other person should also be named in the riparian instrument 
the application should contain a statement to that effect. 
Note : for example: where record title is invested in one 
spouse and the other spouse has only a derivative interest, 
if the spouse having record title desires that the other spouse 
also be named in the riparian instrument, a statement to that 
effec t should appear in the application. We are required to 
issue riparian instruments to the same persons and for the same 
interests as appears in the deed unless we receive a proper 
consent that other persons shall be named therein. The applica-
tion should be notarized, that is it should be sworn to before 
a notary public or a counsellor at law. The application should 
also state the use to which the desired tideland shall be put. 



October 3, .1961 

PE:RMiTS AJ :D LIC.ENSES ISS l:ED Fi11l DHEDG ING SEALL PHOVIDE 1 

, 
l. Developments selling .to the publio or businesses supplying eervfoea 

to the boatitig publio shall be required to1 

a. Plan and execute ·~ connecting channel between the develop~ent 

and/or service areas and the main channel of the body of water 

·u'po~ which it is located. 

b. Dredge said channel to a maximum depth of feet and a 

maximum width of feet, the width to b~ no less than 

the width of· la;;oons where appl'icuble. 

o. Any dred ging in excess of the ~aximurn depth and width ex~ 

cavated and placed on the upland as fill shall be paid fo~ 

· at the license fee per oubio ~,a.rd in effeot at the time. 

Subsections "b" - and "o" shall apply to perJ11i ta for chan-• . 
nels into private ·property also. 

2 • . That dredgi_ng for fill under a liuense shall be in a'nd from an a.rea, 

with dimensions, depths. ttnd location, which in the judgment of the 

Bureau shall contribute to the public .benefit in the creation of chan-

nels, removal of shoals, widening or connecting channels instead of 

deep holes to obtain fill~ 

R IPA {!AN 

1. Publio interest should be paramount. The rapid developrn~nt of water 

front property is fast using up the water area 1.1.nd the munidpalitiea 

will awaken and find that the private developments h:i.ve spread ctnd 

eliir.inated ·waterfron~ from pul; lfo use. The Creen Acre l' ro~ra.m re-

co~nizes this prinoipal ~nd, is passed, will i nvolve public monies to 

~ocoreplish this. Considerat i on by Navigation Bureau~ould be given 

- 1 -
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to the preservution for the public or some or this waterfront. Con-

sideration shall be 1!;iven to applications for Park {:!;r ants by the muni-

cipalities at a reduced rate with the ,~ant being restrictive to com-

pensate for the reduced rate, restrictive to depth, improvel/\ents and 

use. 

2. LANDS UNDER WATER IN F.t{ONT OF S~,t \IALl.S (Forunouth Beach, Sea Bright, 

eto.) whether in state ownership or granted. Since most of this front-

a~e is under water, the Grants already made have little value to individ-

ual owners. Existing Grants should be conden~ed and returned to the State, 

so that future ooast protection work, done with public monies, to create 

a usuable baa.ch by the oonstruotion of groins and jetties ..i.nd or the pump.: 

ing of beaoh f111 would be pub Ho lai ,di• 

3. LANDS ACC ttETED BY THE CONS'ffillCTION OF COAST PPOTEC 'l'IVE S'NUCTlU!•~S OF 

BE1\.CH PILL. 

Ownership of that land ~ccreted by the conatruotion of jetties or bee.oh 

fills should oe in the public. 

lr Groins and jetties are constructed with public monies when 

erosion occurs ~nd presents a problem. 

2. The structure is planned to 

a. Het~rd and stop erosion. 

b. Rebuild the beach by the entrapmant or sand. 

c. Protect t he shore. 

d. When the structure is designed for tr.ese expre ss 

purposes, fulfills t he design criteria and builds 

beach after construction, it follows that it i s ttn 
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&rtf!ioial a.ooretion ~nd not natural accretion. Tl,e , 1ame reasoning 

holds true of beach fill of thou areas so eroded a.nd rebuilt with 

4. At locat.iona where it 1a required to tie. riparh.n surveys to pierhead · 

and bulkhead lines (as in l~anaaquan River), the proper agency should 
.. 

be requested to replace monuments lost by the encroachment and develop-. ' 

me,nt or set new ones. 

J_;'. ~- COGAN 
ASST. CHIEF ENG I NEER 
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MEMORANDUM 

DATE sept. 29, 1961 

TO: Mr. Peter J. Gannon 
RECEIVED 

FROM: Mr. Janea K. Rankin OCT 2 
., 

1961 

Commission on Uparian ~w 
NAVIGATION BUREA.U CHIEF 

Proposed changes in riparian law were. discussed :ln the Trenton 
Office on September 26th by Messrs. Cogan, Scoppetuolo and 
Rankin. Mr. Kelly was a.bs~nt but submitted a memorandum, copy 
of which is attached. ; · · .. 
Mr. ·Kelly's memorandum was discussed~ His first · suggestion · 
was that the permit statute 12z5-3 should be strengthened for 
enforcement as set forth in his memorandum. He suggested a 
procedure involving a fine · and possible claim covering cost of 
removal of an illegal structure. · It was decided that more . 
discussion would be necessary in order to work out a auitable 
prode4ure. There was a question whether the imposition of a 
fine by the Bureau would be approved. Perhaps. a tee for late 
filing would · fit this situation. The action for reimbursement 
covering removal of struct,,;re would probably have to be ·. 
initiated tlu;ough the Attorney General's Office. 

Mr. ~elly's second su~gestion was that there should be a 
specific statute governing licesnses, issued for structures out-
shore of the exterior lines. This should include isolated 
stru~tures, as for example a ski jump. It was thought that 
such a statute would be appropriate. 

' ' ' 

Mr. Kelly's third suggestion was the establishment of laws 
governing mooring areas. The thought was that the· state could 
designate and mark established areas. Futher that there would 
be a specified charge for ~o.oring in these areas. This was 
considered appropriate ~ddft:ion to the riparian laws. 

On the second page of Mr. Kelly's memorandum he listed the 
various factnrs which affect the riparian prices. In addition 
to those listed it was considered proper to add (l) relation 
to upland realty values and (2) establishment of class prices . 
divided into (a)private, (b) commercial (c) industrial. In 
substance it -was considered .. that the character and use of 
the adjacent upland greatly affects the value of the riparian 
frontage. · 

Mr. Cogan called attention to the fact that frequently owners 
of riparian grants dredge extensively for fill in connection 
with dredging approach from .the nearest channel. It was 
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Mr. e t er J. Gnnnon - 2- September 29, 1961 

cons idered appropri ate that permi~ f or channe l approach to 
grants s hould be l imited to t he proper s i ze for the vessels 
which would be moored a t t he riparian owner s f r ontage. Any 
ot he r dredging or excess dredg ing i n conne ction with the 
channe l should be under license with royalty payments. 

Mr. Scoppetuolo called attention of 12,3-9 which involves a 
6 month's notice. He fil. t that the Council should be relieved 
on setting damages. It seems appropriate that this statute 
should be r eviewed and brought up to date. 

As to park grants there was unanimous opinion that the policy 
of the Council and previous Boar ds in a llowing a reduction 
to municipa lities should be continued and if ne cessary estab-
lished by l aw. The need for public recreationa l area on our 
beachfront grows constantly. In this connection it was thought 
that there s hould be statutes assis ting the sta te in acquiring 
beach property, as per example the areas outside the Sea Bright 
seawall. Possibly also in this connection t he re might be 
affirmation by statute of the general policy for the Oouncil in 
not making grants along the oceanfront. 

JKR.:ms 

cc: Mr. Oogan 
Mr. Scoppetuolo 
Mr. Kelly 

~nkin 
Chief Engineer 
Navigation Bureau 
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ARCHER. GREINER, HUNTER & REAP 
COUNSELLORS AT LAW 

CAMDEN I, NEW JER.sEY 

5 18 MARKET STREET 
IIVOOOI .AIIVN :l l 9 KO 

Mr. Peter J. Gannon 
Chief, Navigation Bureau 
137 East State Street 
Trenton 9, New Jersey 

Dear Mr. Gannon: 

HADDONFIELD OFFICE 
27 CHESTNUT 5TREET 

HADDONFIELD, NEW JEil.SEY 

HAZEL 9 ·4400 

()ctob.er 9, 1961 

Many thanks for your letter ·of ·september .5th. 

Henry Haines had already asked for mycomnents on ,the 

riparian laws and applications thereunder. A copy of my 

letter of today to him, containing such comments, is 

enclosed. 

FPG:crs 
enclosure 

_s~n~ce~rely ;°:rs, . 
/ . </ J c / (' /'),•--·/ 

/ , .,., 

_ ... ,.,,. FREDE CK P .• GREINER 
I , 

. I 
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Honorable Henry S. Haines 
230 High Street 
Burlington, New Jersey 

Dear Senator Haines~ 

October 9, 1961 

Thank you for your !nvit~.t.ton" to offer my comments to 
the Legislative Study Commission on riparian laws. It occurs 
to me that time will be conserved for the Commission if such 
comments are submitted by letter. 1 hope to attend the public 
hearing on October 18th and if it appears that my participation 
therein will be helpful, 1 shall Join in the public discussion 
of the questions being considered. 

As you know, my work in riparian land matters mainly has 
been on behalf of industry seeking to develop water front land 
in the southern part .. of the State. It has been my experience 
over the past 20 years that, in spite of continuous effort of the 
Navigation Bureau staff and other officials concerned with 
riparian grants._ to minimize delays and avoid technical com-
plications in processing applications for such grants, delays 
and difficulties incident to such applications are steadily 
increasing to the point of discouragement of such water front 
deve 1 opmen t. 

That our riparian land statutes are a hodge podge of 
acts, passed, from time to time, largely before the turn of the 
century, is apparent from even a cursory examination of them. 
That they need complete review and revision in the light of 
present day conditions can hardly be doubted. 

It has long been established that the S t a t e owns tidal 
lands below high water line. Where the water li ne is reasonably 
constant In location, the boundaries between t he State's under 
water land and the private owner's up l and ls eas ily determined. 
In southern New Jersey, with wh i ch· I am most fami liar, however, 
this is rarely so. We have shifting hi gh wa t er l i nes, 
particularly along the ocean and bay, t i de meadows, marshes, 
reclaimed lands between high and low water, meadow bank lands 
and other conditions rendering i t exceedingly difficult to 
determine where the State ownership ends and the upland owner-
ship begins. 
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The case law on ownership of fast land subsequently f l ooded 

by the tide is confusing at best and, in my opinion at least, 
conflicting in many situations. We have decisions that fast 
landj submerged and subsequently re-emerged, belongs to the 
original riparian owner of the fast land, even though the Sta t e 
makes a riparian grant thereof to the owner of i n l and reached 
by the encroach i ng high wa t er l i ne duri ng such s ubmergence. 
Other New J ers ey dec isi ons~ however, ho l d t ha t the ori gina l 
riparian owne r of the s ubmerged f ast l and loses hi s ti t le f orev.er 
if the State grants i t to anot her be f ore re=emergence. Presumably, 
a riparian grant of lands be l ow hi gh wa t er li ne by t he St ate to 
the owner of the r i pa ves ts titl e . i n the grantee for a ll time, 
whether the lands gran t ed rema i n s ubmerged or not. Yet our 
cases hold that t i tle to lands between high and low water, 
reclaimed by t he owner of the r i pa and "appropriated to his own 
exclusive usett under the since repea l ed Wharf Ac t of 1851 , are 
lost to the St a t e i f t he rec l aimed land becomes submerged for 
any extended per i od. 

For generat i ons many owners of farm l and s fronting on 
tidal water be l ieved that their owners hi p ex t ended to l ow water 
line and, without ripar i an grant or permit from the St ate j 
appropriated the land between hi gh and l ow water t o the i r own 
use. Deeds conveying such l ands frequen tly use the low water 
l i ne as a boundary i n descr i p tion of the l and. 1. Lit tl e , i f any , 
object i on t o thi s has been made by the St a t e bu t when i ndust ry 
develops water front l ands i t ne ce s sarily proc eeds with mo r e 
caution. Consu l t i ng co unsel J i t is of t en advis ed t ha t l it -
igation is necessary to determine t he ex t en t of the St ateus 
interest in any g i ven parce l of water fron t l ando 

When an i nd ustry decides on water front deve lopment i t 
cannot accept either t he de l ays or t he uncer t a inti es of lit -
igation. Many times t i t l e to some part of the land chos en fo r 
deve l opment i s cla i med bo t h by the up l and owner and by the Sta t e. 
As an alterna t ive to abandonmen t of i t s deve lopment project , 
the industry may be confron t ed with b uy ing tha t par t of the 
land twice - once from the upland owne r and once from the St ate -
at the full price in each cas e. 

Buying from the State is no t always limi ted t o pur c has e 
of a routine ripar i an grant for a cons i deration determined by 
the number of feet purchased a.long the pierhe ad and bulkhead 
lines. If subs tan t ia l areas be t ween 9 hi gh and l ow wa t er are 
involved, a furt her considerat i on, bas ed on acreage , may be 
charged. Where the poss i bi 1i t y of former tide coverage of 
present fast land exists 9 there ls t he chance t ha t the State 
one day might c laim, even thoug h i t c oul d not prove , an interest 
in such fas t land. In such si tuat i ons c aut i on pr omp t s a 
request that the State qui t =c la im to t he upland owne r suc h 
rights, if any, as it might c l aim i n the up l ando For such 
quit-claim an additional price must be pa i d. 
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In most cases the land conveyed by the State 8 s riparian 

grants is of little use until very substantial expenditure for 
development of the land by bulkheading, filling, erection of 
piers, dredging.1 etco has been madeo The extent to which this 
fact should be recognized in fixing the consideration to be 
paid for the grants is a question of State policyo Perhaps, 
in selling the Statens decreasing supply of tideland available 
and suitable for industrial deve l opment, the main ohjective 
should be to realize therefor the maximum amount fairly pro-
curableo In any event, however j if the State seeks to encourage 
development of its water front areas 9 it should estab li sh some 
standards by which the extent of the rights It claims In such 
lands and the price basis on which It will transfer those 
rights to the upland owner can be determined with reasonable 
certainty. 

The uncertainties invo lved in dealing with the State on 
applications for riparian grants, more than : the prices charged 
for the grants, are, in my opinion, the major deterents to 
development of water front land - uncertainties as to extent of 
the StateVs claims of title j uncertainties as to price, 
uncertainties as to limitations the State may impose on its 
grant, uncertainties as to when a grant will be madeo None of 
these uncertainties can be resolved by the technical staff in 
the Navigation Bureau. I have always found the staff members 
courteous ~nd helpful but it seems to me that their customary 
eagerness to serve well both the State and the riparian grant 
applicant is, these days, giving way to a feeling of frustrationo 
They can recommend but they have no power to take . the action 
such uncertainties demand or to make the decisions necessary for 
such actiono 

The Governor and his counsel, the Attorney General, the 
Commissioner of Conservation and Economic Deve lopment , the 
Director of Planning and Deve lopmen t , and the members of the 
Planning and Deve l opment Counci l all must pass on one or mo r e 
phases of each riparian grant and each of those officials, 
together with the Secretary of State , must sign every grant 
instrument. All of these gent l emen . have other duties, respon~ 
sibilities and Interests and, at least to the applicant for 
a rip~rian grant 9 it appears that such other duties, respon-
sibilities and interes ts take precedenceo There would certainly 
appear to be no good reason why 9 on even ro utine riparian 
grant applicat ions 9 nearly two years must elapse between the 
filing of the application and delivery of the grant instrument , 
yet such lapse of time is customary today .. 

The Navigation Bureau recognizes that there are mechanical 
delays in the preparation of grant instrumentso Such de lays, 
while annoying to the appl ic ant 9 are not serious 9 however, if 
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the title claimed by the Sta t e j the price for a grant of that 
title, and the conditions to be placed on the grant are promptly 
determined with finality upon wh i ch the applicant can relyo 
The discouraging difficulty with the delays encountered in 
processing riparian grant applications li es in the fact that 
until the fully executed grant instrume nt has actually been 
delivered to the applicant , there is no as s urance that the 
StateVs title claims, its price 6~ its conditi ons wil l not be 
changed. The Planning and Deve lopment Council may fix a price 
and the app licant may agree to pay it but a year later perhaps, 
when the grant instrument reaches the Attorney General or, 
later st111 9 when it is submitted to the Governor 8 s counsel, 
objection to the contemplated grant on one ground or another 
may be raised and the whole purchase transaction may have to be 
renegotiated. 

Ripar ian lands ma tters seem always to be relegated to some 
member of the Attorney General Us staff who, by reason of other 
duties , cannot be expected to devote sufficient time to d i spose 
of them prompt ly or to become expert in that fleld. Many years 
ago I suggested to the Attorney General that he assign to such 
matters one of his assistants with sufficient time, inclination 
and ability to become expert in regard thereto. The Attorney 
General expressed interest in the suggestion but never followed 
it. If the s uggestion had any mer it then 9 i t has more now. 
Riparian grants frequently take many months to clear the 
Attorney General 0 s office and after they do 9 they are forwarded 
to the GovernorRs counsel for re=examination. 

In answer to a recent inquiry of mine about delays in 
moving ripari~n instruments through his office, the Governor 
repl iedi 

"I have been in constant touch with the 
_Department in an effort to shorten the pro-
cessing of these grants. Unfor tunately, 
it has been my experience that many of 
these grants reach my office before 
significant shortcomings are uncovered 
for the first time." 

Why ~ignificant shortcomings in grant instruments are uncovered 
for the first time when they reach the Gove rnor 8 s office is 
hard to understand. Presumab ly the Navigation Bureau has 
passed upon all technical details and the Attorney General on 
all legal details of each riparian grant before it is submitted 
to the Governor. Obviously, considerable simplification of 
State procedures for preparat ioh and execution of grant instru-
ments is essential. 

If the State seeks to encourage deve lopment of its water 
front lands, even if it seeks only to get the highest possible 
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price for its interests in under water lands, it must adopt 
business like methods in processing applications for riparian 
grants. All engineering aspects of applications for grants 
can be handled expeditiously by the Navigation Bureau if that 
bureau ls adequately staffed. All l ega l as pects t hereof can 
be taken care of, with full protec ti on o f t he i n t erests of the 
State, by one member of the Attorney General Vs department if 
he is expert in the field of rlparjan grant matters, ls 
assigned to those matters exclusively and ls available at all 
times to the Navigation Bureau and t he P l anning and Develop-
ment Council. All questions of val ue of r i parian lands granted 
by the State can be determined by the Council in consultation 
with the Navigation Bureau and the Attorney General's expert. 
With cooperation between those three agencies and systematic 
and efficient procedures for synchroniz ing their efforts, most 
of the confusion, uncertainty and delay currently incident to 
riparian grant applications can be avoided. Time would be 
saved, of course, if the signatures of a few, instead of so 
many, State officials could be made adequate for proper execu-
tion of riparian grant instruments. 

I most strongly urge the Commission to consider the need 
for establishing standards and adopting procedures along the 
lines herein discussed that will enttoura~ sound development of 
water front lands in the State and assure t o the State proper 
compensation for its under water lands used for such development. 

Sincerely yours , 

FREDER ICK Po GREINER 

FPG:crs 
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Riparian Legislat-ive Study Commission, 
137 East State 8treet, 
Trenton 9, New Jersey. 
Gentlemen: 

' 

NiliMOHANDUM re TITLE 
Submitted on behalf 
MATCH CORPORATION 
DIVISION. 

to . TIDELANDS 
of UNIVEHSAL . 
H.l!:RMETITE 

Seri'ous question has been raised as to the owner-
ship of vast areas of the State of New Jersey which are now, 
or were formerly, .salt mnrsh. ·. The Bureau of Naviga_tion has 
questior,Pd whether' the St.;,te does not own all land .lying 
between i.ow and normal htgh water mark whether such lands, 
includinb the veg·etation on them, are completely submerged 
or not. 

The State ror- New. Jer~ey unquestionably a:s, s .. overeign, 
has title to the sea, withih, the , thz:-e~ . mil~· limi~ 11 - and t .o the 
arms of the sea, such as bays and rivers, 1.nclud1.ng- the shores 
of the sea, the bays and the riv~rs where the tide ebbs and 
flows. But should sa lt ·mursh, such as :the Hackensack and· 
Elizabeth meadows be constdered a pnrt: of:· the sea . or an . arm: 
of the sea because it is flowed by tidewater:s? · 

From Colonial days; -and continuing to the presen~: 
time, salt marsh has been treated as subject to private 
ownership. The owner of a farm frequently also owned a , 
tract of tideland from which he cut the salt . hay .and m.ore 
recently vast areis of marsh .have been filled and improved 
with house s , fact9ries and otherwise. 

Whi l e it hus bee~ stated as a general rule that all 
lands under tidewater below hig h wa ter ma rk within the ter~ 
ritorial limits of the Sta ~e are owned by the 3tate,in apply-
in~ the rule it is important to consider its history and the 
rec1son for it. 

The title t o this country is ba sed upon discovery. 
It belonr~e d t o the Jl ri ti s h na tion and was vested in the King 
as the head th ereof. 
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Titles to real estate in New Jersey are derived 
from a grant from Charles the Second to his brother, James, 
Duke of York. This grant included the entire State of 
New Jersey together with the right of government. The 
Duke of York granted his land together with the right of 
government to Berkley and Carteret and from them the land 
together with the right of government passed to 24 Pro-
prietors known as the Board of Proprietors of the Eastern 
Division of the State of New Jersey. On April 17, 1702, 
the Proprietors surrendered to Queen Anne their powers of 
government, retaining to themselves the title to the soil. 

The land granted by James, Duke of York, to 
Berkley and Carteret was "bounded on the east part by 
the main sea, and part by Hudson's river." And prior to 
1702 as well as thereafter vast tracts of land were granted 
which unquestionably included tidelands. · One such tract 
was bounded by Arthur Kill, the Rahway River, the Pis- . 
cataway line and the Raritan River (excepting Amboy Point). 
Another was from Governor Philip Carteret and his council 
dated September 22, 1668 to the Trustees of the town of 
Bergen. 

But whatever the intent of the parties may have 
been, the courts have held that the general public have 
certain rights in tidelands which the King under Magna 
Charter and the common law of England,did not have power 
to convey. 

The title which was vested in the British 
crown, together with the right of government, was granted 
to the Duke of York for the purpose of enabling him to 
establish a colony upon the newly discovered continent, 
to be governed, as nearly as circumstances could permit 
according to the principles of the British constitution. 
The estate and rights of the King pa s sed to the Duke and 
from the Duke to the Proprietbrs in the same condition in 
which they had been held by the crown a nd upon the same 
trusts. 

Under English common l aw titles of the crown 
(and of the St a te) are of two kinds, proprietary titles 
and soverei gn titles. The form e r ma y be parcelled out 
and Granted to private individuals for private purposes , 
the latter we re held only by the soverei gn a uthority f or 
t~e common and public use of the nation. The proprietary 
title extended to such property as in its nature could 
be severed from the public domain and devoted to privat e 
and exclusiv~ use without a ny interfe rence or infringe-
ment of public and common ri r.;ht, such as al l the soil 
above tide v,&. ters o The so vereip;n title ex t e nd ed to all 
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such _property as could be used and enjoyed in common with-
out conflicting •with private rights, s1.lch as the ~hore 
and beds of the sea, arms of the sea, or hays, 
where the tides ebb and flow. 

The latter class of p~operty is . sometimes 
ferred t ·o as common property. 'l'he title is in the 
sovereign· but the use is common to all the people. 
amples are the air, . navigable st~eams, the sea, the 
and wild beasts. . 

re-

Ex-
fish 

In early times the King granted to private per-
sons exclusive rights of fishing in navigable rivers. 
This was considered by the people to be a usurpation or 
their ancient common rights. Accordingly Magna Charte 
as passed in the time of King John enacts "that where the 
banks of rivers had first been defended in his time (that 
is when they h~d tirst been fenced in, and shut against 
the common use in his time} th~y should be from thence 
forth laid open." And this common right ~as amplified 
and confirmed by the Charter of Henry III. 

The decisions of the first cases in New J~rsey 
involving title to land under .tide waters, were based 
on this common right of fishery. And the principle was 
laid down that neither the King, the Duke nor the Proprie-
tors could grant title to the soil under tide ¼'ater which 
would re~ult in the destruction of the common ~ight to use 
such waters. 

' But salt marsh is not of such cha r acter as to 
constitute common property. ·There is no more reason why 
the general public should have common rights in salt 
meadow than in upland. Title to the shores of the sea 
and its a rms is vest ed in the _St a te for the protection of 
the public common rights. It is a ge neral rule that all 
between . ordir:ary high and low-wa ter mark -is embraced 
under the denominati.on of . the shore. But as pointed out 
in one of our early supreme court cases (Gough v. Bell, 
21 N.J.L. 156 at 163) "the tide · must ebb and flow,*** 
the mere oozing or flowing up through a salt marsh not 
being sufficient to constitute that a part of the river 
or shore." · 

The Bereen County m~adows are not the shore of 
the Hackensack River. 
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II. 

Whethe~ or not the State has legal title to 
the vast areas which are now or were formerly salt 
marsh is a question for the courts to decide. But 
whether or not the State should assert its ,title, if 
any, is a question for the Legislature to decide. And 
the Legislature has the power, absolute and unlimited, 
to regulate, ·abridge or vacate public rights in tidal 
waters except in the field reserved to Congress by the 
Federal Constitution. (Schultz v. Wilson 44 N.J. Super 
591, 597 App. Div. 1957}. 

The following quotation from an early Supreme 
Court case is in point: 

"But it is worthy of notice that the claim 
of the State of New Jersey to land flowed by 
the tide is in no sense proprietary. It is 
strictly a sovereign right. The proprietary 
rights were at an early period severed from 
the sovereignty, and were vested in the 
proprietors, in whom1 and in their grantees 
they still remain. The only title which the 
state claims to the soil is by virtue of its 
sovereignty, for the protection of the public 
or common rights. But where the soil of 
navigable rivers is permanently appropriated 
without prejudice to the public rights, and 
where the state tacitly acquiesces in such 
appropriation, there would seem to be but 
little reason in her setting up a title as 
proprietor of the soil for no public use." 

Gough v. Bell, 22 N.J.L. 441, 461 (Sup. Ct. 1850). 

Titles to salt meadows have been so seriously 
questioned that legislative action is imperative and 
should nota-.rait a possible clarifying court decision. 
Millions of dollars of property, both improved and unim-
proved are involved. The conveying and mortgaging of 
these properties are being obstructed and the improvement 
of these meadow lands by private capital will be discour-
aged until the title question is resolved. 

9 1 



-5-
.. 

Riparian Legislative Study -Commission ·October 3, 1961 

III. 

It is urged that the Legislature take prompt . 
action to disclaim and vacate any and all title which 
the State of New Jersey has, or may be. thought to have, 
in salt marsh based upon it~ : sovereignty. . 

A partial list of authorities in support of this 
statement is appended. 

Resp~: /lly submitt~, )'- .' vk · d /1' w:--;? 
I RI•: .c • JviOOEE , JR .U 

ICM , J R. : MAK 
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List of Supporting Authorities 

Graham v. =-~-=Ed=i=s~o=n __ T=P~· 35 N.J. 537, 544 (1961) 
Arnold v. Mundy 6 N.J.L. 1. (Sup. Ct. 1821) 
Martin et al v. Waddell 16 Peters (41 U.S.) 367 (1842) 
Gough v. Bell 
Gough v. Bell· 
GQ.ugh v. Bell 
Shultz v. Wilson 
Simpson v. Moorhead 

21 N.J.L. 156 {Sup. Ct. 1847) 
22 N.J.L • . 441, 461 (Sup. Ct. 1850) 
23 N.J.L. 624, 683 (~.& A. 1852) 
44 N.J.Super 591 (App. Div. 195i) 
65 N.J.Eq. 623 ·(Ch. 1903) 

Ross ~- Ma or &,c_. Borou h of Ed ewater 115 N.J •. L. 477, 
4 4 ~up. Ct. 1935 ; affd. 11 N.J.L. 447 (h.& A. 1936J . 
certiorari denied 299 U.S. 543 
Bailey v. Iriscoll 19 N.J. 363, 369 (1955) 
River Develo . v. Libert 
460 App. Di ; affd 29 N.J. 

• 51 N.J.Super 447, 
1959) 

Sisselman et al v. State Hi hwa De artment of New Jerse 
App. Div. Docket A-7 9 - 59 not reported 

Magna Charta The Statutes at Large Vol. 1, 9th yr. King 
Henry VIII cap. XVI "Defending of Danks" and Prof. 
McKechnie's arrangements pp. 497 - 508 

Blackstone's Commentaries Book II Ch. II - 39 
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Mr. Peter J. Gannon 
Chief, Bureau of Navigation 
13 7 E. state st. 
Trenton, N. J. 

Dear Pete: 

Newton, N. J. 
Oct. 12, 1961 

Have just returned home from a visit to our son 
living near Lancaster, Pa. Your letter concerning the Hacken-
sack Meadows was delivered during my absence. There was a 
delay in the mail due to a change in our Rural Route and Box 
number. 

In so far as I recollect,the state has not made any 
claim to the ownership of these lands since the inception of 
the Riparian Commission in 1869. 

. Early in 1916, shortly after the Board of Commerce 
and Navigation succeeded the Riparian Commission it commenced 
a comprehensive and thorough investigation of unauthorized 
occupation of states lands. Two field investigators were en-
gaged to inspect the entire State's waterfront. This work, 
lasting several years, was under the direction of late Victor 
Gelineau, then an assistant engineer and who was not only an 
experienced land surveyor but was then taking a law course at 
N. Y. u. These two professions being so necessary for a com-
plete understanding of hydrographic and legal aspects involved 
in the study and administration of riparian rights. 

As a result of this investigation, some 1600 cases 
r1ere successfully prosecuted and the illegal occupants acquired 
grants, leases or licenses. All these cases involved, piers, 
pulkheads, fill and other structures along the shore line and 
none of these cases involved the reclamation or occupation of 
these meadows inshore of the bank line. 

I attended all the meetings of the Board and most of 
phe public hearings and do not recall that any of. the Board 
~mbers or the various special counsels questioned the title to 
~pese meadow lands nor ordered and investigation and report as 
tQ whether the State had any riparian interest. 

(cont'd) 
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Sections of this meadow area have been reclaimed 
and large sums of money expended in improvements thereon by 
large corporations and individuals. Certainly the legal 
representatives of these parties would not advise their 
clients to proceed and establish costly industrial plants 
unless they were satisfied that they held a good title.· 

I recall having once called upon Mr. Cruse for 
information concerning the title to a certain area of these 
lands. Mr. cruse was then Counsel and an officer of the New 
Jersey Title and Guarantee Gompany located on Montgomery St. 
in downtown Jersey City. He was one of the best informed 
title authority in the State. I was informed that his company 
did and would not hesitate to insure meadow tracts. 

It was intended that the grant to the State Highway 
Department for Route S3 convey the riparian title only to the 
lands flowed by tidewater at mean high tide in the several 
creeks and waterways to numerous and irregular to describe 
individually. Therefore the usual blanket description was 
used calling for all the right, title and interest of the 
State in and to the lands under water at mean high tide in-
cluded within the right of way lines., including 'the slopes"., 
was used. This was not intended to be a declaration that 
all of the land involved belonged to the State but only those 
submerged at mean high tide, whatever they may be. 

If this title question is to be thoroughly investi-
gated it is suggested that all the Annual Reports of the 
Riparian Commissi~n from 1869 to 1915 be reviewed. I have 
found these reports a valuable source of information and 
very helpful in carrying out my duties. The reports are 
bound in three or four volumes and on file in the office. 
It might also be helpful to review the Annual Reports of the 
Board of Commerce and Navigation from 1915 to about 1938. 

The 
report on the 
befope 1935. 
eluded. 

I 

Board of Commerce and Navigation also made a 
reclamation of these meadow 1 ands sometime 
There may be some reference to the title in-

I feel that you have fully covered the matter in 
your reports and concur in your conclusions that merely because 
of the Court decision in one particular area that the entire 
Hackensack-Passaic meadow area belongs to the State. 

(cont 1d) 
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The riparian lands of the state have been administered 
by duly appointed and competent authorities for nearly one hundred 
years. It seems that at this late date the title should not be 
questioned and the owners who claim a valid title, have held 
possession, made costly improvements and paid taxes thereon should 
now be distressed. Each area should be'considered upon its own 
merits. 

There is only one point in your report that could be 
clarified. You refer to the establishment of the mean high water 
line with reference to mean sea level-bench marks of the u.s.c&G 
precise level net. 

The elevation of mean high water .can only be established 
by continuous tidal observations oyer a sufficient period of time 
and these local high water readings reduced to mean values by 
simu~taneous comparison observations at a primary station where 
lo~g series of tide observations have been made. 

The elevation of mean high and mean low w~ter changes 
from place to place depending upon its location, configuration of 
the shore line _ and other factors. Even the extensive dredging 
operations in the rivers and bays change the elevation of the two 
tidal planes because of the increased tidal prism and other factors • 

A review of the two u.s •. c. and G survey publications 
"tidal Bench Marks, State of New Jersey" and "Tidal Datum Planes" 
give complete information on this highly technical subject. 

Certain sections of this meadow area may be considered 
_border line cases. The area being so low and flat a differance of 
a tenth of a foot would change the status of the title. The 
establishment of the mean high water datum plane should therefore 
_be established with reasonably great accuracy. This could be best 
done by an expert agency, the United states Coast and Geodetic 
Survey, under a project sponsored by and paid for by the state. 

I hope that my remarks are readable and helpful to . you. 

Sincerely 

/s/ Robert Simon 

Mr-. Simon is a retired Riparian Supe!Ti sor. 
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PROPOSED STATEMENT OF THE NEW JERSEY SHELL FISHERIES COUNCILS 
AT THE PUBLIC HEARING HELD BY THE RIPARIAN STUDY CCl1MISSION 

ON OCTOBER 18, 1961 

My IlaJlle is Christopher H. Riley, Director of the Division of Shell 
Fisheries of the New Jersey Lepartrnent of Conservation and Economic 
Development which is the division established by law1tformulate basic 
policy for the conservation and development of New Jersey's shellfish 
resources . 

I am speaking in behalf of the Shell Fisheries Councils. We are grateful 
for t his oppor t unity to appear before the Riparian Study Commission 
because we, as a division, have specific problems occurring from the 
present r iparian policy of our State. · 

These probl ems fall into two categories: 
I The issuance of riparian grants for lands whereon a shell fish 

l ease has already been granted and exists, Le.-
a. Andrew T. Russell, Grantee of Riparian Right at 

Waretown, N. J. 
vs 
Joshua & Russel J. Horner, Shellfish Lessees 

b. Case 61-171- Herbert L. Shapiro- Grantee of Riparian 
Right at Mill Creek Tributary of Manahawkin Bay; 
vs 
Nathan G. Cramer, Shellfish Lessee 

c. Case 61-189- Walter Chapman, Riparian Grantee of 
Riparian Right at Waretown, Barnegat Bay. 

de File# C-9844- Anna C. Nichols & Eliz. M. Toslano, 
Shark River 

We feel a further investigation is necessary in cases c and d -Exact 
locations of t hese may be already leased by the Shell Fisheries Council. 

i s the 
II The second proklem that affects our division specifically 

confusion that occurs oier the r ights given to the grantee: i.e.-
a. Does a grant give the grantee the right to keep 

holders of licenses to take shellfish off the premises ? 
b. Does a grant allow a grantee the right to take clams 

without a clamming license (from area covered by his 
riparian grant)? 

c. Does a grant allow a grantee the right to take clams 
from a polluted area (comdemned by Dept. of Health 
and declared a "Sanctuary" by Shell Fisheries)? 
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Page 2. October 18, 1961 

We feel very strongly that the existence of a shellfish lease should 
exclude a riparian grant unless the riparian grant is to be used 
imme!'4tely for some commercial or otherwise extensive improvernental 
purpose. We are of the opinion that a grant ( desirErljust for the sake 
of obtaining jurisdiction over a certain area) should not be allowed 
if it means ousting a shellfish lessee. 
More and more greater areas of shellfish lands are being condemned by 
the Department of Health each year. By this action the lea.sable areas 
are diminishing and we therefore need all the land available to permit 
those lessees whose leased lands were declared condemned to obtain new 
leases in pure waters in open areas. 
Programs are being instituted for the development of more shellfish 
areas and for private lessees the demands are generally for shoreline 
areas. 
It is our feeling that a much better program could exist • 
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PETER W. KERO. 
f!'lll!lelDENT 

IP&NCER MANSER. 
fltlle11 VICE PRESID£NT 

JOIE.PH SEL. 
-Q~!'iO VICE PRESIDCNT 

~Q9lNELIUS VREELAND, 
ftOIID VICE PRESIDENT 

,\&..DO BARESI, 
Tll•~8UR•ER 
l~M•ON BOSIN. 
ICt.;flll:TARY 

"41TTO & NITTO. 
Q,N.f'AL COUNSIEL. 

Meadowlands 

Owners' 

Association 
INCORPORATED 

DONALD MACKAY, EXECUTIVE SECRETARY 

38 Ames Avenue, Rutherford, New Jersey 

study Commission On RiParian lAws 

l:57 West State street 

Trenton• H. J. 

Gentlemen---

The ,Meadowlands Oivners 1 -Association suggests that 

the State of New Jersey amend its riparian laws so as to 

o on form to the federal statutes, which ernpl oy normal higi 

tides and normal low tides in deli1;1iting tidelands and 

r1Par1a.n lands. 
I . 

Executive Secretary 
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DIVISION OF 
110GET ANO ACCOUNTING 

&tab of Ntw Jrrstg· 
DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY 

October 20, 1961 

Mr. Peter J. Gannon, Secretary 
Legislative Stuey Commission-Riparian Laws 
State House 
Trenton, New Jersey 

Dear Mr. Gannon: 

BUDGET BUREAU 
STATE HOUSE, TRENTON, 2! 

Confirming with the request contained in your letter of 
October 13., 1961, I am attaching a statement showing for a three year 
period the revenues in the State School Fund. 

As you lmow, this fund_ is broken up into two sections: . 
(1) a capital and (2) an income section. The inconederived from grants, 
easements and one fee licenses as shown on the first line of the 
statement is not distributed and becomes part of the capital section of 
the fund. The other revenues in the income section of the fund are 
distributed and constitute the amounts which are eventually transmitted 
to the General Treasury as part of the earnings used to make our 
contribution to the local districts in the form of State Aid for 
Education. Any expenses are necessarily deducted before transfer to 
General Treasury is made. 

A close look at the statelll3nt will reveal that the amounts 
transferred to the General Treasury do not equal receipts for the four 
revenue items shown. This is due to the fact that the revenues are on an 
accrual basis and include accounts receivable at the close of a fiscal year. 

When transmitting to the General Treasury, only the actual cash 
is transmitted, and for this reason there can be no exact agreement as 
between the amounts. One other note you may question is how is it possible 
for the grants, easements and one fee licenses to be shown as a red figure 
in the 1960 year. This was due to the fact that during that year write-
offs of accounts receivable exceeded the accrued revenues to that extent. 

AMV':mh 
Att. 

I 

Voey ~ly yours, l 
~I lttu I)); .{~jJu~tf,,J} a. __ 

Abram M. V~rmeulen; Direct~ · 
Division of Budget & Accounting 
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Trustees for the Support of Public Schools Fund 

Fiscal Years Ended June 30 

Revenues: 

Grants, Easements and One Fee Licenses 
Rents am Interest on Riparian Leases 
Annual Licenses and Royalties 
Dividends 
Earnings on :Investments 

Total Revenues 
Balance July 1, 

Total Available 

§!Eenditures: 

Transfer ·to General Treasury-
Miscellaneous Expenses 

3alanoe June JO., 
Total 

i©enote, red figure. 

100 

$1,140,589.15 
33,618~53 

158,016.o6 
15;662.00 

456,299.28 

1814371281.20 

.$82,920.31 
498.85 

$ 595,ol.4.o5 
33,338.36 
69.,589.19 
18,038.00 

~0~1145.2~ 

19,078,986.87 

6o4,02J.l4 
128.34 

$, 138,570.61* 
38,410.66 
65,049.5.6 
11,11,.2s 

489,0~~•61 
$ 471,0 .L.'1 
18,474.,835.39 
18,945, 893.86 

. 6o9,SJ8.88 
8).18 
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